University of Alberta

Ergodic theorems for certain Banach algebras associated to locally compact groups

by

Sébastien Mathieu Guex

A thesis submitted to the Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy in Mathematics

Department of Mathematical and Statistical Sciences

© Sébastien Mathieu Guex Spring 2013 Edmonton, Alberta

Permission is hereby granted to the University of Alberta Libraries to reproduce single copies of this thesis and to lend or sell such copies for private, scholarly or scientific research purposes only. Where the thesis is converted to, or otherwise made available in digital form, the University of Alberta will advise potential users of the thesis of these terms.

The author reserves all other publication and other rights in association with the copyright in the thesis and, except as herein before provided, neither the thesis nor any substantial portion thereof may be printed or otherwise reproduced in any material form whatsoever without the author's prior written permission.

To my family

My grandparents: Marthe, René and Jules My parents: Béatrice and Christian My brother: Jérôme

Abstract

In this thesis, we establish some ergodic theorems related to $A_p(G)$, the Figà-Talamanca-Herz algebra of a locally compact group G. This thesis is divided in two main portions.

The first part is primarily concerned with the study of ergodic sequences in $A_p(G)$ and with a newly introduced notion of ergodic multipliers. After presenting a full description of the non-degenerate *-representations of $A_p(G)$ and of their extensions to the multiplier algebra $MA_p(G)$, it is shown that, for all locally compact groups, the weakly ergodic sequences in $MA_p(G)$ coincide with the strongly ergodic ones, and that they are, in a sense, approximating sequences for the topologically invariant means on some spaces of linear functionals on $A_p(G)$. Next, motivated by the study of ergodic sequences of iterates, we introduce a notion of ergodic multipliers, and we provide a solution to the dual version of the complete mixing problem for probability measures.

The second part is of a more abstract nature and deals with some ergodic and fixed point properties of φ -amenable Banach algebras. Among other things, we prove a mean ergodic theorem, establish the uniqueness of a two-sided φ -mean on the weakly almost periodic functionals, and provide a simpler proof of a fixed point theorem which is well known in the context of semigroups. We also study the norm spectrum of some linear functionals on $A_p(G)$ and present a new characterization of discrete groups.

Acknowledgements

First and foremost, I would like to express my most sincere gratitude to my supervisor, Professor Anthony To-Ming Lau, for his constant encouragement, his many valuable advice regarding research and teaching, and for his overall excellent guidance.

My special thanks are to Professor Antoine Derighetti whose joy of life and immeasurable enthusiasm for mathematics have truly inspired me. Without his moral support and timely motivation throughout my graduate programs, this thesis would not have been possible. Moreover, I would like to thank him for reading a preliminary version of this thesis, and for providing me with many valuable suggestions.

I would also like to express my appreciation to Professor Vladimir G. Troitsky for his convivial attitude and for numerous helpful discussions.

Thanks are due to the friendly staff of the Department of Mathematical and Statistical Sciences at the University of Alberta, and the financial support they provided me is gratefully acknowledged. Furthermore, I would like to acknowledge my supervisor, through his NSERC grant MS100, for the summer support he provided me, and for the payment of my differential fees.

Last but not least, my immense thanks and gratitude for my parents and my brother, for their love and understanding. Without their support, I would certainly have lost the track of my life. Finally, a fond and warm thought to my grandparents whose destiny did not allow them to see the end of this thesis. This thesis is naturally dedicated to them.

Contents

1	Introduction.	1	
2	2 Preliminaries.		
	2.1 Analysis on locally compact groups.	5	
	2.2 The Figà-Talamanca-Herz algebras and related spaces	8	
	2.3 Amenable groups and topologically invariant means	10	
3	Non-degenerate *-representations of $A_p(G)$ and $MA_p(G)$.	12	
	3.1 Two preliminary lemmas.	12	
	3.2 Description of the *-representations of $A_p(G)$	13	
	3.3 Extension to *-representations of $MA_p(G)$	15	
4	Ergodic sequences in $A_p(G)$ and $MA_p(G)$.	21	
	4.1 The main result.	22	
	4.2 Functorial properties	27	
	4.3 Examples via well distributed sequences	27	
5	Complete mixing problem for multipliers.	32	
	5.1 Ergodic multipliers of $A_p(G)$	34	
	5.2 F -ergodic multipliers	39	

6	Ergodic theorems for φ -amenable Banach algebras.		
	6.1	Left amenability of semigroups	44
	6.2	Ergodic characterization	47
	6.3	A mean ergodic theorem	51
	6.4	Decomposition of subspaces of wap (A)	59
	6.5	Fixed point characterizations	60
7	Spe	ctrums in $PM_p(G)$ and discreteness of G .	67
8	Ope	en problems	71

Chapter 1

Introduction.

In the first half of the twentieth century, many researchers in harmonic analysis were working with locally compact Abelian groups, especially with their group algebra $L^1(G)$ and their measure algebra M(G). However, as many locally compact groups are not Abelian, it was desirable and natural to look for non-commutative versions of the classical results available in commutative harmonic analysis. Thus, a new direction of research was instigated by P. Eymard [28] in 1964, when he introduced and pioneered the study of the Fourier algebra A(G) and of the Fourier-Stieltjes algebra B(G) for all locally compact groups. Many analysts then became interested in these new algebras since, in the case when G is Abelian, A(G) can be identified with $L^1(\widehat{G})$ via the Fourier transform and B(G) with $M(\widehat{G})$ via the Fourier-Stieltjes transform, \widehat{G} being the dual group of G.

In 1965, A. Figà-Talamanca [31] introduced an L^p-version of A(G) for locally compact Abelian groups, which he reasonably denoted $A_p(G)$ as $A_2(G) = A(G)$. But Figà-Talamanca was mainly concerned with the study of multipliers of $L^p(G)$ and so did not prove that $A_p(G)$ is an algebra. Indeed, it was only a few years later that C. S. Herz [48] realized that $A_p(G)$ is closed under pointwise multiplication via an application of the theory of Banach space tensor products. Since Herz's seminal paper, the algebra $A_p(G)$ is known as the Figà-Talamanca-Herz algebra, and $A_p(G)$, as well as its multiplier algebra $MA_p(G)$, have enjoyed a great deal of attention and are still under current investigations. See [48, 24, 43, 45, 77, 17] and the references therein.

In this thesis, we establish several theorems related to $A_p(G)$, all of them

being of an ergodic nature. They are discussed independently in different chapters, which are organized as follows:

In Chapter 2, we collect the necessary definitions and preliminary results needed in the sequel. In Chapter 3, we describe all the non-degenerate *representations of $A_p(G)$, and we show in Section 3.2 that they are defined, up to unitary equivalence, by pointwise multiplication on some L²-space. In Section 3.3, we prove the existence of a unique extension of any such representation to the multiplier algebra $MA_p(G)$.

In Chapter 4, we apply the results of the previous chapter to study ergodic sequences in $MA_p(G)$. In particular, we show in Section 4.1 that for all locally compact groups, the weakly ergodic sequences coincide with the strongly ergodic ones, and that these sequences approximate, in the weak^{*} topology, the topologically invariant mean on some spaces of linear functionals on $A_p(G)$. Some functorial properties are considered in Section 4.2, and examples of ergodic sequences are given in Section 4.3 using a notion of well distribution.

In Chapter 5, motivated by the study of ergodic sequences of iterates, we introduce a notion of ergodic and mixing multipliers of $A_p(G)$. We show in Section 5.1 that the ergodic multipliers coincide with the mixing ones, and this provides a solution to a dual version of the complete mixing problem for probability measures. We also characterize the existence of such multipliers. In Section 5.2, we solve a similar problem in the more general context of a Tauberian regular semisimple commutative Banach algebra, in which the multipliers are ergodic (respectively mixing) with respect to a set of spectral synthesis.

In the second part, we deal with some ergodic and fixed point properties of φ -amenable Banach algebras, a class of Banach algebras which include the left amenable Lau algebras as well as the Figà-Talamanca-Herz algebras. As a tool for the next sections, we present in Section 6.1 a new characterization of left amenability for semigroups in terms of certain Hahn-Banach separation properties. In Section 6.2, we present new proofs of several known results (see [58, 96, 67]). In Section 6.3, we prove a mean ergodic theorem in the general setting of φ -amenable Banach algebras, and we also show the uniqueness of a two-sided φ -mean on the weakly almost periodic functionals. As an application, we obtain in Section 6.4 a direct sum decomposition for some subspaces of weakly almost periodic functionals. In Section 6.5, we consider various fixed point properties which characterize φ -amenability. Among other things, we

prove an analogue of a fixed point theorem which is well known in the context of semigroups [79, Theorem 3.], and our proof greatly simplifies the original one.

In Chapter 7, by means of some of our previous results, we describe the norm spectrum of any weakly almost periodic functional on $A_p(G)$ in terms of the topologically invariant mean. In particular, this leads to a new characterization of discrete groups.

A list of the main results of this thesis goes as follows:

Theorem 4.1.3. Let (v_n) be a sequence in S_M^p . The following assertions are equivalent:

- (i) (v_n) is strongly ergodic.
- (ii) (v_n) is weakly ergodic.
- (iii) For every $x \in G$, $x \neq e$, $v_n(x) \to 0$.
- (iv) For every $T \in C_{\delta,p}(G)$, $\langle v_n, T \rangle \to \langle \Psi, T \rangle$.
- (v) For every $T \in M_p(G)$, $\langle v_n, T \rangle \to \langle \Psi, T \rangle$.

Theorem 5.2.1. Let $T \in M(A)$ such that $||T|| = 1 = \widehat{T}(\varphi)$ for all $\varphi \in F$. If F is a set of spectral synthesis, then the following statements are equivalent:

- (i) $\widehat{T^n}(\gamma) \to 0$ pointwise for all $\gamma \in \triangle(A) \smallsetminus F$.
- (ii) $|\widehat{T}(\gamma)| < 1$ for all $\gamma \in \triangle(A) \smallsetminus F$.
- (iii) T is completely F-mixing.
- (iv) T is F-mixing.
- (v) T is weakly F-mixing.
- (vi) T is F-ergodic.
- (vii) $I_T = k(F)$.

(viii)
$$\{f \in A^* : T^*f = f\} = \overline{span(F)}^{\omega}$$
.
(ix) $F = F_T$, where $F_T := \{\gamma \in \triangle(A) : \widehat{T}(\gamma) =$

 $1\}.$

Corollary 6.3.7. Let C be a non-empty closed A-invariant subset of wap(A) such that $\mathbb{C}\varphi \subseteq C$. Suppose that A admits a two-sided φ -mean of norm one. Then there exists a unique non-expansive retraction P from C onto $Fix(S_{\varphi})$ such that $PT_{\mu} = T_{\mu}P = P$ for each $\mu \in \mathscr{M}_{\varphi}$, and $Px \in \overline{\{u \cdot x : u \in S_{\varphi}\}}$ for each $x \in C$.

Moreover, if (μ_{α}) is an ergodic net in \mathscr{M}_{φ} , then there exists a subnet (μ_{β}) of (μ_{α}) such that $T_{\mu_{\beta}}$ converges to P in the weak operator topology.

Theorem 6.5.5. Let X be a topologically left invariant subspace of A^* with $\varphi \in X$, and such that condition (6.6) is satisfied. The following assertions are equivalent:

- (i) There exists a φ -mean Ψ on X with $||\Psi|| = 1$.
- (ii) For each $x \in X$, there exists $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$ such that $\lambda \varphi \in \overline{\{u \cdot x : u \in S_{\varphi}\}}^{w^*}$.

Theorem 7.1. Let G be a discrete group, and $x \in G$ be arbitrary. The following assertions hold:

- (a) For any $T \in PM_p(G)$, $T \neq 0$, $x \in \sigma_*(T)$ if and only if $\langle \Psi_x, T \rangle \neq 0$.
- (b) For any $T \in WAP_p(G)$, $T \neq 0$, $x \in \sigma(T)$ if and only if $\langle \Psi_x, T \rangle \neq 0$ if and only if $T = c\lambda_p(x) + T_0$ for some $c \in \mathbb{C}$, $c \neq 0$, and $T_0 \in \{S \in WAP_p(G) : \Psi_x(S) = 0\}$.
- (c) For any $T \in AP_p(G)$, $T \neq 0$, $x \in \sigma(T)$ if and only if $\langle \Psi_x, T \rangle \neq 0$ if and only if $T = c\lambda_p(x) + T_0$ for some $c \in \mathbb{C}$, $c \neq 0$, and $T_0 \in \{S \in AP_p(G) : \Psi_x(S) = 0\}$.

Chapter 2

Preliminaries.

2.1 Analysis on locally compact groups.

Given a Banach space X we denote its dual space by X^* . If Y is a subset of X^* , the $\sigma(X, Y)$ -topology is the weakest topology on X such that every linear functional $\phi \in Y$ is continuous. Given a dual pair (X, Y), by $\phi(x)$ or $\langle \phi, x \rangle$ we will usually denote the value of ϕ at x.

For a locally compact Hausdorff space X, we denote by CB(X) (respectively $C_0(X)$, $C_{00}(X)$) the space of all complex-valued bounded continuous functions on X (resp. which vanish at infinity, with compact support), equipped with the sup-norm $||.||_{sup}$.

A locally compact group is a pair (G, τ) , where G is a group and τ is a locally compact Hausdorff topology on G, such that the map $G \times G \to G, (x, y) \mapsto xy^{-1}$ is continuous when $G \times G$ is equipped with the product topology. The identity element of the group will be denoted e.

Following Bourbaki's terminology [8, Chap. 3], we call an element $\mu \in C_{00}(G)^*$ a (complex) Radon measure on G. Since the space $C_{00}(G)$ can be viewed as the union of $C_{00}(G, K)$, where K runs over all compact subsets of G and $C_{00}(G, K) := \{f \in C_{00}(G) : supp(f) \subseteq K\}$, we may define an inductive limit topology on $C_{00}(G)$. Applying the criterion of continuity in inductive limits, we may as well describe a Radon measure as follows: a linear functional μ on $C_{00}(G)$ is a Radon measure on G if for every compact subset K of G, there is a positive constant c_K such that $|\langle \mu, f \rangle| \leq c_K \sup_{x \in K} |f(x)|$ whenever $f \in C_{00}(G, K)$. We say that μ is bounded if there is C > 0 such that $|\langle \mu, f \rangle| \leq$ $C ||f||_{\sup}$ for all $f \in C_{00}(G)$, and we say that μ is positive if $\langle \mu, f \rangle \geq 0$ for every $f \in C_{00}^+(G)$, where $C_{00}^+(G)$ stands for the set of all real-valued functions in $C_{00}(G)$ which are non-negative. We write M(G) for the space of all bounded Radon measures on G, and $M^+(G)$ for the positive bounded Radon measures on G. Unless otherwise stated, by "measure" we always mean a bounded Radon measure, and for any $f \in C_{00}(G)$ we may write $\langle \mu, f \rangle = \int f(x) d\mu(x)$. By the Riesz representation theorem, there is a one-to-one correspondence between positive Radon measures on G and positive regular Borel measures on G. For a complex-valued function f on G we will use the following notations:

$$\ell_x f(y) = f(xy), \quad r_x f(y) = f(yx), \quad \text{for } x, y \in G,$$

 $\check{f}(x) = f(x^{-1}), \quad \widetilde{f}(x) = \overline{f(x^{-1})}, \quad \text{for } x \in G.$

A non-zero positive Radon measure m on G is called a *left Haar measure* on G if m is left invariant, *i.e.*, $\langle m, \ell_x f \rangle = \langle m, f \rangle$ for all $x \in G$, $f \in C_{00}(G)$. The most remarkable feature of a locally compact group G is certainly the existence of a left Haar measure on G, which is unique up to multiplication by a positive constant. Thus, measure theory and functional analysis may be used as important tools for the study of locally compact groups.

Let G be a locally compact group, and let m be a fixed left Haar measure on G. For $f \in C_{00}(G)$ we write $\langle m, f \rangle = \int f(x) dx$. For each $1 \leq p < \infty$, the space of all p-integrable functions on G is denoted by $\mathscr{L}^p(G)$, and $(L^p(G), ||.||_p)$ will denote the Banach space of all equivalence classes of p-integrable functions, where two functions $f, g \in \mathscr{L}^p(G)$ are said to be equivalent if $\int |f(x) - g(x)|^p dx = 0$. For $p = \infty$, $(L^{\infty}(G), ||.||_{\infty})$ is the Banach space of all equivalence classes of (Haar) measurable functions which are uniformly bounded outside a locally negligible set, *i.e.*, a set A such that $m(A \cap K) = 0$ for every compact subset K of G). For $[f] \in L^{\infty}(G)$,

 $||[f]||_{\infty} := \inf\{C > 0 : |f(x)| \le C \text{ for locally almost all } x \in G\}.$

Let WAP(G) (resp. AP(G)) denote the space of all weakly almost periodic (resp. almost periodic) functions on G, *i.e.*, all $f \in L^{\infty}(G)$ for which the left orbit $\mathcal{L}_f := \{\ell_x f : x \in G\}$ is relatively weakly compact (resp. relatively norm compact). In general, the following inclusions can be verified:

$$\operatorname{AP}(G) \oplus \operatorname{C}_0(G) \subseteq \operatorname{WAP}(G) \subseteq \operatorname{CB}(G) \subseteq \operatorname{L}^{\infty}(G).$$

For a continuous function, we identify the function with its equivalence class. Furthermore, the spaces $C_0(G)$, CB(G) and $L^{\infty}(G)$ are commutative C^* algebras with pointwise multiplication and involution given by conjugation. In order to define a structure of involutive Banach algebra on $L^1(G)$ and M(G)one must consider the *convolution product*

$$\int f(x) d(\mu * \nu)(x) := \int \int f(xy) d\mu(x) d\nu(y), \text{ for } f \in \mathcal{C}_{00}(G), \mu, \nu \in \mathcal{M}(G);$$
$$f * g(x) := \int f(xy) g(y^{-1}) dy, \text{ for } f, g \in \mathscr{L}^1(G), \text{ and almost all } x \in G.$$

Equipped with these products and the following involutions

$$\int f(x) d\mu^*(x) := \int \check{f}(x) d\overline{\mu}(x), \text{ for } f \in \mathcal{C}_{00}(G), \mu \in \mathcal{M}(G);$$
$$f^*(x) := \Delta_G(x^{-1}) \widetilde{f}(x), \text{ for } f \in \mathscr{L}^1(G), x \in G,$$

where \triangle_G is the modular function of G, M(G) and $L^1(G)$ become involutive Banach algebras. For each $1 \leq p \leq \infty$, the *left regular representation* of G (resp. M(G)) on $L^p(G)$ is given by

$$\lambda_p : G \to \mathscr{B}(\mathrm{L}^{\mathrm{p}}(G)), \, \lambda_p(x)([f]) = [\ell_{x^{-1}}f]$$

(resp. $\lambda_p : \mathrm{M}(G) \to \mathscr{B}(\mathrm{L}^{\mathrm{p}}(G)), \, \lambda_p(\mu)([f]) = [\mu * f]),$

where $\mathscr{B}(L^{p}(G))$ is the Banach algebra of all bounded linear operators on $L^{p}(G)$. A crucial property of the convolution product is the following: if $1 and <math>p' = \frac{p}{p-1}$, then for any $f \in \mathscr{L}^{p}(G), g \in \mathscr{L}^{p'}(G), f * \check{g}(x)$ exists everywhere and defines a function in $C_{0}(G)$. References: [8], [50], [33].

2.2 The Figà-Talamanca-Herz algebras and related spaces.

From now on and throughout this thesis, we let G be a locally compact group with a fixed left Haar measure m = dx, and $1 < p, p' < \infty$ such that $\frac{1}{p} + \frac{1}{p'} = 1$. Let $A_p(G)$ denote the space of all continuous functions $u: G \to \mathbb{C}$ which can be represented as

(2.1)
$$u = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \ell_n * \check{k_n} \quad \text{for some } k_n \in \mathscr{L}^p(G), \ \ell_n \in \mathscr{L}^{p'}(G),$$

so that $\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} N_p(k_n) N_{p'}(\ell_n) < \infty$, where $N_q(f) := ||[f]||_q$. Then $A_p(G)$ is a dense linear subspace of $C_0(G)$. Under pointwise multiplication and with the norm given by

$$||u||_{\mathcal{A}_{p}} := \inf \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} N_{p}(k_{n}) N_{p'}(\ell_{n}),$$

where the infimum runs over all the possible representations of u as in (2.1), $A_p(G)$ is a Tauberian semisimple regular commutative Banach algebra, nowadays known as the *the Figà-Talamanca-Herz algebra* of G, or sometimes called the *generalized Fourier algebra* of G.

Let $\operatorname{PM}_p(G)$ denote the w^* -closure of $\lambda_p(\operatorname{M}(G))$ in $\mathscr{B}(\operatorname{L}^p(G))$, where the w^* topology is the $\sigma(\mathscr{B}(\operatorname{L}^p(G)), \operatorname{L}^p(G) \widehat{\otimes} \operatorname{L}^{p'}(G))$ -topology, $\widehat{\otimes}$ being the completed projective tensor product. The elements in $\operatorname{PM}_p(G)$ are called *p*-*pseudomeasures*, and they form a Banach algebra when endowed with the operator norm. Moreover, $\operatorname{PM}_p(G)$ is isometrically isomorphic to the dual space $\operatorname{A}_p(G)^*$ and the w^* -topology $\sigma(\mathscr{B}(\operatorname{L}^p(G)), \operatorname{L}^p(G) \widehat{\otimes} \operatorname{L}^{p'}(G))$ is carried over to the w^* -topology $\sigma(\operatorname{A}_p(G)^*, \operatorname{A}_p(G))$. In particular, the measure algebra $\operatorname{M}(G)$ can be viewed as a subset of $\operatorname{A}_p(G)^*$ via

$$\langle \lambda_p(\mu), u \rangle = \int u(x) d\mu(x), \quad \text{for } u \in \mathcal{A}_p(G), \ \mu \in \mathcal{M}(G)$$

Let $\operatorname{PF}_p(G)$ denote the norm-closure of $\lambda_p(\operatorname{L}^1(G))$ in $\mathscr{B}(\operatorname{L}^p(G))$. The elements in $\operatorname{PF}_p(G)$ are called *p*-pseudofunctions, and they form a closed subalgebra of $\operatorname{PM}_p(G)$. Under pointwise multiplication, the dual space $\operatorname{W}_p(G) := \operatorname{PF}_p(G)^*$ is a commutative Banach algebra of continuous functions on G.

Remark 2.2.1. In case p = 2, $A_2(G)$ is the Fourier algebra A(G), $PM_2(G)$ is the group von Neumann algebra VN(G), $PF_2(G)$ is the reduced group C^* -algebra $C^*_{\rho}(G)$, and $W_2(G)$ is the reduced Fourier-Stieltjes algebra $B_{\rho}(G)$. See [28, 30].

A multiplier function of $A_p(G)$ is a continuous function $v : G \to \mathbb{C}$ such that $vu \in A_p(G)$ whenever $u \in A_p(G)$. We write $MA_p(G)$ for the commutative Banach algebra of all multiplier functions of $A_p(G)$, equipped with the multiplier norm

$$||v||_M := \sup\{||vu||_{A_p} : u \in A_p(G), ||u||_{A_p} \le 1\}.$$

In general, the following inclusions hold:

$$A_p(G) \subseteq W_p(G) \subseteq MA_p(G),$$

and

$$||u||_{\sup} \leq ||u||_M \leq ||u||_{W_p} \leq ||u||_{A_p}$$
 for $u \in A_p(G)$.

If G is amenable (see definition below), then $W_p(G) = MA_p(G)$. References: [29], [48], [13], [85], [23].

Arising from the theory of Banach algebras, $A_p(G)$ naturally acts on its dual space $PM_p(G)$, and this action is even well-defined for the multiplier algebra $MA_p(G)$. Thus, the Banach spaces $PM_p(G)$ and $PM_p(G)^*$ are both $MA_p(G)$ -modules under the actions

$$\langle v \cdot T, u \rangle := \langle T, vu \rangle$$
, and $\langle v \cdot \Phi, T \rangle := \langle \Phi, v \cdot T \rangle$,

for $v \in MA_p(G)$, $u \in A_p(G)$, $T \in PM_p(G)$ and $\Phi \in PM_p(G)^*$.

Next, we list four closed subspaces of $PM_p(G)$ that are of interest to us. We follow the notations of [24].

$$C_{\delta,p}(G) := \overline{\operatorname{span}\{\lambda_p(x) : x \in G\}}^{||\cdot||_{\operatorname{PM}_p}};$$
$$M_p(G) := \overline{\{\lambda_p(\mu) : \mu \in \mathcal{M}(G)\}}^{||\cdot||_{\operatorname{PM}_p}};$$
$$AP_p(G) := \left\{ T \in \operatorname{PM}_p(G) : \stackrel{\mathcal{A}_p(G) \to \operatorname{PM}_p(G)}{u \mapsto u \cdot T} \text{ is a compact operator} \right\}.$$

 $\mathrm{WAP}_{\mathrm{p}}(G) \, := \, \left\{ T \in \mathrm{PM}_{\mathrm{p}}(G) \, : \, \stackrel{\mathrm{A}_{\mathrm{p}}(G) \to \mathrm{PM}_{\mathrm{p}}(G)}{u \mapsto u \cdot T} \text{ is a weakly compact operator} \right\}.$

In general, the following inclusions are satisfied:

$$C_{\delta,p}(G) \subseteq M_p(G) \subseteq WAP_p(G) \subseteq PM_p(G)$$
 and $C_{\delta,p}(G) \subseteq AP_p(G)$.

Moreover, $C_{\delta,p}(G)$, $PF_p(G)$, $M_p(G)$, $AP_p(G)$ and $WAP_p(G)$ are norm-closed $MA_p(G)$ -submodules of $PM_p(G)$ [43], and $C_{\delta,p}(G)$ contains the identity $\lambda_p(e)$ of $PM_p(G)$.

Remark 2.2.2. If G is Abelian and \widehat{G} denotes its dual group, then $C_{\delta,2}(G) = AP(\widehat{G}) = AP_2(G)$, $PF_2(G) = C_0(\widehat{G})$, $M_2(G)$ is the $||.||_{\infty}$ -closure of the Fourier-Stieltjes algebra $B(\widehat{G})$ in $L^{\infty}(\widehat{G})$, and $WAP_2(G) = WAP(\widehat{G})$ [26]. If G is not necessarily Abelian, then $C_{\delta,2}(G)$ is sometimes denoted $C^*_{\delta}(G)$, as in [65] and [70] for instance.

2.3 Amenable groups and topologically invariant means.

Let G be a locally compact group, and let X be a translation-invariant subspace of $L^{\infty}(G)$ containing 1_G , the constant one function. A linear functional $m \in X^*$ is called a mean if $||m|| = 1 = m(1_G)$. If X is a C*-subalgebra of $L^{\infty}(G)$, then m is a mean if and only if $m \ge 0$ and ||m|| = 1. A mean $m \in X^*$ is said to be left invariant if $\langle m, \ell_a f \rangle = \langle m, f \rangle$ for all $f \in X$, $a \in G$. If X is topologically left invariant, i.e., $\varphi * f \in X$ for all $\varphi \in L^1(G)$, $f \in X$, then a mean $m \in X^*$ is said to be topologically left invariant if $\langle m, \varphi * f \rangle = \langle m, f \rangle$ for all $\varphi \in L^1(G)$, $\varphi \ge 0$, $||\varphi||_1 = 1$, and all $f \in X$. In particular, on $L^{\infty}(G)$, the existence of a left invariant mean is equivalent to the existence of a topologically left invariant mean, and in case such a mean exists, then G is called amenable. The class of amenable groups includes all solvable groups and all compact groups. However, the free group on two generators is not amenable. Remark 2.3.1. It is known that a locally compact group G is amenable if and

only if $A_p(G)$ admits a bounded approximate identity [48]. Other characterizations of the amenability of G in terms of the algebras $A_p(G)$ are given in [38] (see also [34]). *References:* [47], [84], [85], [92].

Analogously, a mean on $\mathrm{PM}_{\mathrm{p}}(G)$ is defined as a linear functional $\Phi \in \mathrm{PM}_{\mathrm{p}}(G)^*$ such that $||\Phi|| = 1 = \Phi(\lambda_p(e))$. In addition, if $v \cdot \Phi = v(e) \Phi$ for all $v \in \mathrm{MA}_{\mathrm{p}}(G)$, then we say that Φ is topologically invariant. E. E. Granirer [43] showed that the set of topologically invariant means on $\mathrm{PM}_{\mathrm{p}}(G)$ is never empty, and also that such a topologically invariant mean on $\mathrm{WAP}_{\mathrm{p}}(G)$ is unique. By restriction, there is a unique topologically invariant mean on $\mathrm{C}_{\delta,\mathrm{p}}(G)$ and $\mathrm{M}_{\mathrm{p}}(G)$ [44, Proposition 3.].

Chapter 3

Non-degenerate *-representations of $A_p(G)$ and $MA_p(G)$.

In this chapter, we shall describe all non-degenerate *-representations of $A_p(G)$ along with their extensions to the multiplier algebra $MA_p(G)$. The main results are Theorem 3.2.4 and Theorem 3.3.3. Our study of *-representations of $A_p(G)$ was motivated by the lemmas presented in section 2. of [70], where Theorem 3.3.3 is proved for the special case p = 2, under the additional assumption that G is amenable. We repeat these lemmas in section 3.1 below, but since their extensions to the case 1 do not require any major transformation ofthe proofs given in [70], we omit their proofs.

Throughout this chapter, let 1 and G be a locally compact group.

3.1 Two preliminary lemmas.

Lemma 3.1.1. For any positive bounded Radon measure $\mu \in M^+(G)$ we define the linear operator $S_{\mu} : A_p(G) \to \mathscr{B}(L^2(G,\mu))$ by

$$S_{\mu}(u)([h]) = [uh] \quad for \ u \in A_p(G) \ and \ [h] \in L^2(G,\mu).$$

Then the map $u \mapsto S_{\mu}(u)$ is a cyclic *-representation of $A_{p}(G)$ as bounded linear operators on $L^{2}(G, \mu)$, with cyclic vector $[1] \in L^{2}(G, \mu)$. Furthermore,

$$\langle u, \mu \rangle_{\mathcal{A}_{p}(G), \mathcal{M}(G)} = \langle S_{\mu}(u)([1]), [1] \rangle$$
 for any $u \in \mathcal{A}_{p}(G)$.

For a locally compact Hausdorff space X, it is known that every cyclic *-representation of $C_0(X)$ as bounded linear operators on a Hilbert space \mathscr{H} is unitarily equivalent to a representation of the form $\{S_{\mu}, L^2(X, \mu)\}$ for a positive bounded measure μ on X [50, Theorem (C.36)]. A similar result for the Fourier algebra A(G) appears in [70, Lemma 2.2.]. The analogous version for $A_p(G)$ is:

Lemma 3.1.2. Let $\{T, \mathscr{H}\}$ be a cyclic *-representation of $A_p(G)$. Then there exists a positive measure $\mu \in M^+(G)$ such that $\{T, \mathscr{H}\}$ is unitarily equivalent to $\{S_{\mu}, L^2(G, \mu)\}$, i.e., there exists a surjective linear isometry W from \mathscr{H} onto $L^2(G, \mu)$ such that $WT(u) = S_{\mu}(u)W$ for all $u \in A_p(G)$.

3.2 Description of the *-representations of $A_p(G)$.

By means of the lemmas presented in the first section, we completely characterize all the *-representations of $A_p(G)$, up to unitary equivalence. Before stating the main results, the following preliminary lemmas are needed.

Lemma 3.2.1. Let $\mu_{\alpha}, \mu_{\beta} \in M^+(G)$ be such that $supp(\mu_{\alpha}) \cap supp(\mu_{\beta}) = \emptyset$. Then we have:

$$L^{2}(G, \mu_{\alpha}) \cap L^{2}(G, \mu_{\beta}) = \{[0]\}.$$

Proof. Let $[f] \in L^2(G, \mu_\alpha) \cap L^2(G, \mu_\beta)$ and assume that $[f] \neq [0]$. In particular, $|f(x)|^2 \neq 0$ almost everywhere. Then it follows that $\int |f(x)|^2 d\mu_\alpha(x) \neq 0$ and $\int |f(x)|^2 d\mu_\beta(x) \neq 0$ [8, chap. IV, §2, n° 3, Theorem 1]. Therefore, $|f|^2 \neq 0$ 0 in $supp(\mu_\alpha)$ and $|f|^2 \neq 0$ in $supp(\mu_\beta)$, hence $|f|^2 \neq 0$ in $supp(\mu_\alpha) \cap supp(\mu_\beta)$ [8, chap. III, §2, n° 3, Proposition 8]. So there exists $x \in supp(\mu_\alpha) \cap supp(\mu_\beta)$ such that $|f(x)|^2 \neq 0$. Contradiction.

Lemma 3.2.2. Let $(\mu_{\alpha})_{\alpha \in I}$ be a summable family of positive bounded measures on G and assume that the supports of the measures μ_{α} are pairwise disjoint. If μ is the sum of the measures μ_{α} , then $L^2(G, \mu)$ is isometrically isomorphic to $\sum_{\alpha \in I}^{\oplus} L^2(G, \mu_{\alpha})$.

Proof. Let $[h] \in L^2(G, \mu)$. Then $|h|^2$ is μ_{α} -integrable for each $\alpha \in I$ [9, §2, n^o 2, Proposition 3]. By Lemma 3.2.1, $[h] \in L^2(G, \mu_{\alpha})$ for a unique $\alpha \in I$ unless

[h] = [0]. In every instance,

$$\mathrm{L}^{2}(G,\mu) \subseteq \sum_{\alpha \in I}^{\oplus} \mathrm{L}^{2}(G,\mu_{\alpha}).$$

Now using the definition of the direct sum of Hilbert spaces, and by $[9, \S2, n^o 2, Proposition 3]$, the conclusion follows from an argument similar to that used in the proof of [50, Theorem (C.37)].

Proposition 3.2.3. For any positive Radon measure μ on G, μ not necessarily bounded, we define the linear operator $S_{\mu} : A_{p}(G) \to \mathscr{B}(L^{2}(G, \mu))$ by

$$S_{\mu}(u)([h]) = [uh] \quad for \ u \in A_{p}(G) \ and \ [h] \in L^{2}(G,\mu).$$

Then the map $u \mapsto S_{\mu}(u)$ is a non-degenerate *-representation of $A_{p}(G)$ in $\mathscr{B}(L^{2}(G,\mu)).$

Proof. Let μ be a positive Radon measure on G, and let \mathscr{K}_G denote the set of all compact subsets of G. Since \mathscr{K}_G is a μ -dense set for G [8, chap. IV, §5, n^o 8], by applying [9, §2, n^o 3, Proposition 4.] we may write $\mu = \sum_{\alpha \in I} \mu_{\alpha}$ for a summable family $(\mu_{\alpha})_{\alpha \in I}$ of positive bounded measures on G, such that the supports $supp(\mu_{\alpha})$ are pairwise disjoint. It is then straightforward to verify that S_{μ} is a *-representation of $A_{p}(G)$ in $\mathscr{B}(L^{2}(G,\mu))$. To prove its nondegeneracy, we will show that S_{μ} is a direct sum of cyclic *-representations. By Lemma 3.1.1, the operators $S_{\mu_{\alpha}}$ are cyclic *-representations, and for any $[h] = \sum_{\alpha} [h_{\alpha}] \in \sum_{\alpha \in I}^{\oplus} L^{2}(G, \mu_{\alpha})$ we have by Lemma 3.2.2 that

$$\sum_{\alpha \in I} S_{\mu\alpha}(u)([h_{\alpha}]) = \sum_{\alpha \in I} [u h_{\alpha}] = [u h] = S_{\mu}(u)([h]).$$

That is, $\{S_{\mu}, L^2(G, \mu)\}$ is the direct sum of $\{S_{\mu\alpha}, L^2(G, \mu\alpha)\}$, and it follows that $\{S_{\mu}, L^2(G, \mu)\}$ is non-degenerate by [100, Proposition 9.17].

The main result of this section is the following:

Theorem 3.2.4. For any non-degenerate *-representation $\{T, \mathscr{H}\}$ of $A_p(G)$, there exists a positive Radon measure μ on G, possibly unbounded, such that $\{T, \mathscr{H}\}$ is unitarily equivalent to $\{S_{\mu}, L^2(G, \mu)\}$. **Proof.** By [100, Proposition 9.17] we may write $\{T, \mathscr{H}\} = \sum_{\alpha \in I}^{\oplus} \{T_{\alpha}, \mathscr{H}_{\alpha}\}$ for some cyclic *-representations $\{T_{\alpha}, \mathscr{H}_{\alpha}\}$. By Lemma 3.1.2, each $\{T_{\alpha}, \mathscr{H}_{\alpha}\}$ is unitarily equivalent, for some $\mu_{\alpha} \in \mathrm{M}^{+}(G)$, to $\{S_{\mu_{\alpha}}, \mathrm{L}^{2}(G, \mu_{\alpha})\}$. We now claim that the family $(\mu_{\alpha})_{\alpha \in I}$ is summable. Indeed, for $([h_{\alpha}])_{\alpha \in I} \in \sum_{\alpha \in I}^{\oplus} \mathrm{L}^{2}(G, \mu_{\alpha})$ we have

$$\sum_{\alpha \in I} \int_G |h_\alpha(x)|^2 \, d\mu_\alpha(x) < \infty.$$

In particular,

(3.1)
$$\sum_{\alpha \in I} \int_{G} |f(x)|^2 d\mu_{\alpha}(x) < \infty, \quad \text{for any } f \in \mathcal{C}^+_{00}(G).$$

Thus, applying the Cauchy-Schwarz inequality for any $f \in C^+_{00}(G)$, we obtain

$$\begin{split} \sum_{\alpha \in I} \int_{G} |f(x)| \, d\mu_{\alpha}(x) &\leq \sum_{\alpha \in I} \left(\int_{G} |f(x)|^2 \, d\mu_{\alpha}(x) \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \left(\int_{G} 1 \, d\mu_{\alpha}(x) \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \\ &\leq \sup_{\alpha \in I} (\mu_{\alpha}(G))^{\frac{1}{2}} \sum_{\alpha \in I} \left(\int_{G} |f(x)|^2 \, d\mu_{\alpha}(x) \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} < \infty, \end{split}$$

after making use of the boundedness of each μ_{α} and by (3.1). Hence $(\mu_{\alpha})_{\alpha \in I}$ is summable [9, §2, n^o 1]. We set $\mu = \sum_{\alpha \in I} \mu_{\alpha}$, so that μ is a positive Radon measure, which is not necessarily bounded [9, §2, n^o 1]. Therefore, by Proposition 3.2.3 we get

$$\{T,\mathscr{H}\} = \sum_{\alpha \in I}^{\oplus} \{T_{\alpha},\mathscr{H}_{\alpha}\} \cong \sum_{\alpha \in I}^{\oplus} \{S_{\mu_{\alpha}}, L^{2}(G, \mu_{\alpha})\} = \{S_{\mu}, L^{2}(G, \mu)\}.$$

3.3 Extension to *-representations of $MA_p(G)$.

We start this section by developing a general process for extending any nondegenerate *-representation of $A_p(G)$ to a unique non-degenerate *-representation of $MA_p(G)$. This work was inspired by the comments after Lemma 2.2 in [70], where our next lemma and proposition were proved for the case p = 2and G amenable. We here give an improvement of these results since we are able to get rid of the assumption of amenability. **Lemma 3.3.1.** Let $\{T, \mathscr{H}\}$ be a non-degenerate *-representation of $A_p(G)$. For any $v \in MA_p(G)$ and any $u \in A_p(G)$, the following inequality holds:

$$||T(vu)\xi|| \le ||v||_M ||T(u)\xi|| \quad for \ every \ \xi \in \mathscr{H}.$$

Proof. We first consider the representation $\{S_{\mu}, L^2(G, \mu)\}$ as defined in Proposition 3.2.3. Let $v \in MA_p(G)$, $u \in A_p(G)$ and $[h] \in L^2(G, \mu)$ be arbitrary. Then we have

$$\begin{aligned} ||S_{\mu}(vu)([h])||_{2}^{2} &= \int_{G} |v(x)u(x)h(x)|^{2} d\mu(x) \\ &\leq ||v||_{\sup}^{2} \int_{G} |u(x)h(x)|^{2} d\mu(x) \leq ||v||_{M}^{2} ||S_{\mu}(u)([h])||_{2}^{2}. \end{aligned}$$

Now let $\{T, \mathscr{H}\}$ be an arbitrary non-degenerate *-representation of $A_p(G)$. By Theorem 3.2.4, $\{T, \mathscr{H}\}$ is unitarily equivalent to $\{S_{\mu}, L^2(G, \mu)\}$ for some positive Radon measure μ on G. Let W be the corresponding linear isometry from \mathscr{H} onto $L^2(G, \mu)$. Thus, for any $\xi \in \mathscr{H}$,

$$||T(vu)\xi|| = ||W^*S_{\mu}(vu)W\xi||$$

$$\leq ||W^*|| ||S_{\mu}(vu)W\xi|| = ||S_{\mu}(vu)W\xi||$$

$$\leq ||v||_M ||S_{\mu}(u)W\xi|| = ||v||_M ||WT(u)\xi||$$

$$\leq ||v||_M ||W|| ||T(u)\xi|| = ||v||_M ||T(u)\xi||.$$

Proposition 3.3.2. For any non-degenerate *-representation T of $A_p(G)$ and any $v \in MA_p(G)$, there exists a unique bounded linear operator on \mathscr{H} , denoted $S = \widetilde{T}(v)$, such that

(3.2)
$$S \circ T(u) = T(vu)$$
 for every $u \in A_p(G)$.

Furthermore, $\widetilde{T}(u) = T(u)$ for all $u \in A_p(G)$.

Proof. First we consider T cyclic, with cyclic vector $\xi_0 \in \mathscr{H}$. In this case, it suffices to define S on $span(T(A_p(G))\xi_0)$ since $\overline{span(T(A_p(G))\xi_0)} = \mathscr{H}$. Then

for any $v \in MA_p(G)$ we may define

$$S(T(u)\xi_0) := T(vu)\xi_0 \quad \text{for } u \in \mathcal{A}_p(G).$$

Fix $v \in MA_p(G)$. We notice that S is linear since T is a homomorphism, and by Lemma 3.3.1, S is a bounded linear operator on $\langle T(A_p(G))\xi_0 \rangle$ with $||S|| \leq ||v||_M$. As $span(T(A_p(G))\xi_0)$ is dense in \mathscr{H} , S may be extended uniquely to a bounded linear operator on \mathscr{H} , which we also denote by S. Moreover, by a similar density argument, it suffices to verify (3.2) for a vector of the form $T(\phi)\xi_0$, $\phi \in A_p(G)$. In fact, for $u \in A_p(G)$ we have

$$S \circ T(u)(T(\phi)\xi_0) = S(T(u\phi)\xi_0) = T(vu\phi)\xi_0 = T(vu)(T(\phi)\xi_0).$$

Next, let $\{T, \mathscr{H}\}$ be a non-degenerate *-representation of $A_p(G)$. Again, we may write $\{T, \mathscr{H}\} = \sum_{\alpha \in I}^{\oplus} \{T_\alpha, \mathscr{H}_\alpha\}$ for some cyclic *-representations $\{T_\alpha, \mathscr{H}_\alpha\}$ [100, Proposition 9.17]. For any $v \in MA_p(G)$ we define

$$S := \sum_{\alpha \in I}^{\oplus} S_{\alpha},$$

where S_{α} is the bounded linear operator on \mathscr{H}_{α} associated to $\{T_{\alpha}, \mathscr{H}_{\alpha}\}$ as above. Thus, for any $u \in A_{p}(G)$ we have

$$S \circ T(u) = \sum_{\alpha \in I}^{\oplus} S_{\alpha} \circ T_{\alpha}(u) = \sum_{\alpha \in I}^{\oplus} T_{\alpha}(vu) = T(vu).$$

Finally, we observe that S is uniquely determined by T using (3.2).

Remark 3.3.1. We observe that the procedure developed in Lemma 3.3.1 and Proposition 3.3.2 apply similarly to $W_p(G)$ or to any *-algebra \mathscr{A} which satisfy $A_p(G) \subseteq \mathscr{A} \subseteq MA_p(G)$.

A well known result states that every non-degenerate *-representation of $L^1(G)$ admits a unique extension to M(G). Our next theorem, which is the main result of this section, presents an analogue of this result in the "dual framework" of the Figà-Talamanca-Herz algebras. Although the proof for $L^1(G)$ makes use of an approximate identity, we do not require the group G to be amenable in our setting, thanks to Lemma 3.3.1 and Proposition 3.3.2. We

recall that a locally compact group G is amenable if and only if $A_p(G)$ admits a bounded approximate identity [48, Theorem 6.].

Theorem 3.3.3. For any non-degenerate *-representation $\{T, \mathscr{H}\}$ of $A_p(G)$, the map \widetilde{T} : $MA_p(G) \to \mathscr{B}(\mathscr{H})$ is a non-degenerate *-representation of $MA_p(G)$ in $\mathscr{B}(\mathscr{H})$.

Proof. We start by verifying that \widetilde{T} is a homomorphism. Let $v, w \in MA_p(G)$. We have, for any $u \in A_p(G)$:

(3.3)
$$\widetilde{T}(v)\widetilde{T}(w)T(u) = \widetilde{T}(v)T(wu) = T(vwu) = \widetilde{T}(vw)T(u).$$

By non-degeneracy of T, *i.e.*, span $\{T(u)\xi : u \in A_p(G), \xi \in \mathscr{H}\}$ is dense in \mathscr{H} , (3.3) shows that \widetilde{T} is a homomorphism. Next, for any $v \in MA_p(G)$, $u \in A_p(G)$, and $\xi, \eta \in \mathscr{H}$, we establish the following identity:

(3.4)
$$\langle \widetilde{T}(\overline{v})T(u)\xi,\eta\rangle = \langle T(u)\widetilde{T}(v)^*\xi,\eta\rangle$$

Indeed,

$$\begin{split} \langle \widetilde{T}(\bar{v})T(u)\xi,\eta\rangle &= \langle T(\bar{v}u)\xi,\eta\rangle = \langle T(\bar{v}\bar{u})\xi,\eta\rangle \\ &= \langle T(v\bar{u})^*\xi,\eta\rangle = \langle \xi,T(v\bar{u})\eta\rangle \\ &= \langle \xi,\widetilde{T}(v)T(\bar{u})\eta\rangle = \langle \widetilde{T}(v)^*\xi,T(u)^*\eta\rangle \\ &= \langle T(u)\widetilde{T}(v)^*\xi,\eta\rangle, \end{split}$$

where we used the fact that T is a *-representation of $A_p(G)$. Since $A_p(G)$ and $MA_p(G)$ are commutative Banach algebras, and since T and \widetilde{T} are homomorphisms, it follows that

$$T(u)\widetilde{T}(v) = \widetilde{T}(v)T(u)$$
 for every $u \in A_p(G), v \in MA_p(G)$,

and via (3.4)

$$\langle \widetilde{T}(\bar{v})T(u)\xi,\eta\rangle = \langle T(u)\widetilde{T}(\bar{v})\xi,\eta\rangle = \langle \widetilde{T}(v)^*T(u)\xi,\eta\rangle.$$

This shows that \widetilde{T} preserves involution, hence is a *-representation of $MA_p(G)$ in $\mathscr{B}(\mathscr{H})$. The non-degeneracy of \widetilde{T} is an immediate consequence of the non-

degeneracy of T.

Corollary 3.3.4. Let $\{T, \mathscr{H}\}$ be a *-representation of $MA_p(G)$. Assume that the restriction, denoted T_A , of T to $A_p(G)$ is non-degenerate. Then $\widetilde{T_A} = T$, and T is non-degenerate.

Proof. For any $v \in MA_p(G)$, $u \in A_p(G)$, we have:

$$\widetilde{T_A}(v)T_A(u) = T_A(vu) = T(vu) = T(v)T(u) = T(v)T_A(u).$$

By non-degeneracy of $\{T_A, \mathscr{H}\}$, this shows that $\widetilde{T_A}(v) = T(v)$ for all $v \in MA_p(G)$. Hence $\widetilde{T_A} = T$. By Theorem 3.3.3, $\{T, \mathscr{H}\}$ is non-degenerate.

Corollary 3.3.5. Let $\{T, \mathscr{H}\}$ be a *-representation of $MA_p(G)$ such that the restriction of T to $A_p(G)$ is non-degenerate. Then $\{T, \mathscr{H}\}$ is unitarily equivalent, for a positive Radon measure μ on G, to the non-degenerate *representation $\{\widetilde{S}_{\mu}, L^2(G, \mu)\}$, defined by

$$\widetilde{S_{\mu}}(v)([h]) = [v h], \quad \text{for } v \in \mathrm{MA}_{\mathrm{p}}(G), [h] \in \mathrm{L}^{2}(G, \mu).$$

Proof. Let μ be a positive Radon measure on G and $\{S_{\mu}, L^{2}(G, \mu)\}$ be the nondegenerate *-representation of $A_{p}(G)$ defined as in Proposition 3.2.3. Then the extension \widetilde{S}_{μ} , defined on $MA_{p}(G)$, is given by $\widetilde{S}_{\mu}(v)([h]) = [v h]$ for all $v \in MA_{p}(G), [h] \in L^{2}(G, \mu)$. Indeed, for any $u \in A_{p}(G)$ we have

$$\widetilde{S_{\mu}}(v) S_{\mu}(u)([h]) = S_{\mu}(vu)([h]) = [vuh] = [v] \cdot S_{\mu}(u)([h]).$$

Now the corollary follows from Theorem 3.2.4 and Corollary 3.3.4.

Remark 3.3.2. (a) Through all this section, we may replace $\operatorname{MA}_p(G)$ by $\operatorname{W}_p(G)$, or by any *-algebra \mathscr{A} which satisfy $\operatorname{A}_p(G) \subseteq \mathscr{A} \subseteq \operatorname{MA}_p(G)$, without any transformation in the proofs. For the case p = 2, $\operatorname{MA}_2(G)$ may be replaced by the Fourier-Stieltjes algebra $\operatorname{B}(G)$ or by the reduced Fourier-Stieltjes algebra $\operatorname{B}_{\rho}(G)$. (b) In the previous two corollaries, we note that the condition "the restriction of T to $A_p(G)$ is non-degenerate" cannot generally be dropped as the following example vindicates: Let G be a non-discrete locally compact group, identify $L^1(G)$ with the subalgebra of M(G) consisting of the measures that are absolutely continuous with respect to the left Haar measure, and let π be a continuous unitary representation of G. Then the representation T of M(G)given by $T(\nu) = \sum_{x \in G} \nu(\{x\})\pi(x)$ is non-degenerate but will be identically zero when restricted to $L^1(G)$. In this case, T is not unitarily equivalent to a representation of the form \widetilde{S}_{μ} .

The next result is analogous to Theorem (22.11) in [50], where this result is proved for the measure algebra.

Corollary 3.3.6. If λ denotes the left Haar measure on G, then the nondegenerate *-representation $\{\widetilde{S_{\lambda}}, L^2(G, \lambda)\}$ of $MA_p(G)$ is faithful.

Proof. Let $u \in MA_p(G)$ such that $u \neq 0$ and let $x \in G$ such that $u(x) \neq 0$. Let $h \in C_{00}(G)$ such that $h(x) \neq 0$. Then $uh(x) \neq 0$ and uh is continuous with compact support so that $|uh|^2 \in C_{00}^+(G)$ and $|uh|^2 \neq 0$. Therefore, by the property of the Haar integral [50, Theorem (15.5)(i)] we obtain:

$$\int_{G} |uh(x)|^2 \, dx = ||[uh]||_2^2 > 0,$$

hence $[uh] \neq 0$.

This leads us to the following interesting observation concerning the (multiplier algebra of the) Figà-Talamanca-Herz algebras:

Corollary 3.3.7. For any 1 and any locally compact group <math>G, MA_p(G) is embedded in a self-adjoint subalgebra of $\mathscr{B}(L^2(G))$.

Remark 3.3.3. Along with the results of N. J. Young [108], Proposition 3.3.6 implies that WAP_p(G), the weakly almost periodic functionals on $A_p(G)$, form a separating set for $A_p(G)$. Similar statements can be made for the weakly almost periodic functionals on $MA_p(G)$. This result is new even in the case p = 2 and G non-Abelian, or when G is non-discrete, in which case $A_p(G)$ is not Arens regular [36, Theorem 3.2] (see also [37]). For related material, we refer the reader to [16] and [24].

Chapter 4

Ergodic sequences in $A_p(G)$ and $MA_p(G)$.

Let G be a locally compact group and let $P_1(G)$ be the set of continuous positive definite functions ϕ on G such that $\phi(e) = 1$. Improving results of J. Blum and B. Eisenberg [7] and of P. Milnes and A. L. T. Paterson [78], A. T.-M. Lau and V. Losert [70] proved that if G is amenable, the following are equivalent for a sequence (u_n) in $P_1(G)$:

- (i) (u_n) is strongly ergodic.
- (ii) (u_n) is weakly ergodic.
- (iii) For each $x \in G$, $x \neq e$, $u_n(x) \to 0$.
- (iv) For each $T \in C^*_{\delta}(G)$, $\langle u_n, T \rangle \to \langle \Psi, T \rangle$, where Ψ is the unique topologically invariant mean on $C^*_{\delta}(G)$.

In this section, by means of the results proved in Chapter 3, we shall extend Lau and Losert's theorem to the setting of $A_p(G)$ and $MA_p(G)$: we shall give an improvement to condition (iv) above by replacing $C_{\delta,p}(G)$ by $M_p(G)$, and we also remove the assumption of amenability (Theorem 4.1.3).

Throughout this chapter, we let 1 , G be a locally compact group, $and <math>\Psi$ be the unique topologically invariant mean on WAP_p(G).

4.1 The main result.

In order to allow the discussion of ergodic sequences in $A_p(G)$ and $MA_p(G)$, we introduce the following notation:

$$S_{A}^{p} = \{ u \in A_{p}(G) : ||u||_{A_{p}} = 1 = u(e) \},$$

$$S_{M}^{p} = \{ v \in MA_{p}(G) : ||v||_{M} = 1 = v(e) \}.$$

 S_A^p and S_M^p are commutative semigroups with pointwise multiplication and are convex sets [43, Proposition 1.].

A typical example of an element in S^p_A is the function φ_U , U being any compact open subset of G, defined by

$$\varphi_U(x) = \frac{1}{m(U)} \mathbf{1}_U * \widetilde{\mathbf{1}_U}(x) = \frac{m(xU \cap U)}{m(U)}.$$

Indeed,

$$0 \le \varphi_U(x) \le 1 = \varphi_U(e) \le ||\varphi_U||_{\infty}$$

$$\le ||\varphi_U||_{A_p} = \inf \left\{ \sum ||k_n||_p \, ||\ell_n||_{p'} : \varphi_U = \sum \ell_n * \check{k_n} \right\}$$

$$\le \frac{1}{m(U)} \, ||1_U||_p \, ||1_U||_{p'}$$

$$= \frac{1}{m(U)} \, (m(U))^{\frac{1}{p}} \, (m(U))^{\frac{1}{p'}} = 1.$$

Lemma 4.1.1. For every $x \in G$, $x \neq e$, we have

$$\langle \Psi, \lambda_p(x) \rangle = 0.$$

Proof. Fix $x \in G$, $x \neq e$. By semisimplicity of $A_p(G)$ and since the spectrum of $A_p(G)$ is identified with G [48, Theorem 3.], the Gelfand representation theorem [62, Theorem 3.1.1] insures the existence of some $u \in A_p(G)$ such that $u(x) \neq u(e)$. In fact, there exists $u \in A_p(G)$ such that u(e) = 0 and $u(x) \neq 0$ (see the proof of Lemma 6.2.3). Then $\langle u \cdot \Psi, \lambda_p(x) \rangle = u(e) \langle \Psi, \lambda_p(x) \rangle = 0$. But

$$\langle u \cdot \Psi, \lambda_p(x) \rangle = \langle \Psi, u \cdot \lambda_p(x) \rangle = \langle \Psi, u(x) \lambda_p(x) \rangle = u(x) \langle \Psi, \lambda_p(x) \rangle,$$

so that $u(x)\langle \Psi, \lambda_p(x)\rangle = 0$. Therefore, $\langle \Psi, \lambda_p(x)\rangle = 0$ since $u(x) \neq 0$.

Lemma 4.1.2. Let (v_n) be a sequence in $MA_p(G)$. The following are equivalent:

(a) $v_n \to 1_{\{e\}}$ pointwise, where $1_{\{e\}}$ is the characteristic function of $\{e\}$.

(b) For every $\varphi \in C_{\delta,p}(G), \langle v_n, \varphi \rangle \to \langle \Psi, \varphi \rangle.$

Proof. (a) \Rightarrow (b): Let $x \in G$. If $x \neq e$, then $\langle \Psi, \lambda_p(x) \rangle = 0$ by Lemma 4.1.1. Since $v_n(x) = \langle v_n, \lambda_p(x) \rangle \rightarrow 0$, we obtain that $\langle v_n, \lambda_p(x) \rangle \rightarrow \langle \Psi, \lambda_p(x) \rangle$. If x = e, then $v_n(e) = \langle v_n, \lambda_p(e) \rangle \rightarrow 1 = \langle \Psi, \lambda_p(e) \rangle$. (b) \Rightarrow (a): Let $x \in G$. If x = e, then $\langle \Psi, \lambda_p(x) \rangle = 1$, and $v_n(e) = \langle v_n, \lambda_p(e) \rangle \rightarrow 0$.

 $\langle \Psi, \lambda_p(e) \rangle = 1$. If $x \neq e$, then $\langle \Psi, \lambda_p(x) \rangle = 0$ by Lemma 4.1.1, and $v_n(x) = \langle v_n, \lambda_p(x) \rangle \rightarrow \langle \Psi, \lambda_p(x) \rangle = 0$.

With the notation of Proposition 3.3.2 and Theorem 3.3.3 we introduce the following:

Definition 1. Let (v_n) be a sequence in S_M^p . We say that (v_n) is *strongly* (resp. *weakly*) *ergodic* if for any non-degenerate *-representation $\{\pi, \mathscr{H}\}$ of $A_p(G)$ and any $\xi \in \mathscr{H}$, the sequence $(\tilde{\pi}(v_n)\xi)$ converges strongly (resp. weakly) to some $\theta \in \mathscr{H}_f$, where

$$\mathscr{H}_f := \{ \vartheta \in \mathscr{H} : \pi(u)\vartheta = \vartheta \text{ for all } u \in S^{\mathrm{p}}_{\mathrm{A}} \}.$$

Example. In view of Theorem 4.1.3 and Proposition 4.1.5 below, if G is first countable and $\{U_n\}$ is a collection of compact symmetric open neighborhoods of e such that $U_{n+1}^2 \subseteq U_n$, then the sequence (φ_{U_n}) is ergodic in S_A^p , where $\varphi_{U_n} = \frac{1}{m(U_n)} \mathbb{1}_{U_n} * \mathbb{1}_{U_n}^{\sim}$.

The next theorem extends [70, Theorem 3.3] to all locally compact groups, and is viewed as the main result of this section. We also consider an additional condition (condition (v)), which turns out to characterize ergodicity as well, and which seems to be new even for the case p = 2 and G Abelian.

Theorem 4.1.3. Let (v_n) be a sequence in S_M^p . The following assertions are equivalent:

- (i) (v_n) is strongly ergodic.
- (ii) (v_n) is weakly ergodic.
- (iii) For every $x \in G$, $x \neq e$, $v_n(x) \to 0$.
- (iv) For every $T \in C_{\delta,p}(G)$, $\langle v_n, T \rangle \to \langle \Psi, T \rangle$.
- (v) For every $T \in M_p(G)$, $\langle v_n, T \rangle \to \langle \Psi, T \rangle$.

Proof. The implications (i) \Rightarrow (ii) and (v) \Rightarrow (iv) are obvious, whereas the equivalence (iii) \Leftrightarrow (iv) is proved in Lemma 4.1.2.

(ii) \Rightarrow (iii): Fix $x \in G$, $x \neq e$, and let $\{\pi, \mathbb{C}\}$ be the *-representation of $A_p(G)$ given by $\pi(u)(z) = u(x)z$, for $u \in A_p(G)$, $z \in \mathbb{C}$. By (3.2) of Proposition 3.3.2, there exists a unique extension $\tilde{\pi}$ with $\tilde{\pi}(v)(z) = v(x)z$ for all $v \in MA_p(G)$, $z \in \mathbb{C}$. The fixed point set of π is

$$\{\lambda \in \mathbb{C} : \pi(u)(\lambda) = \lambda \text{ for all } u \in S^{p}_{A}\} = \{\lambda \in \mathbb{C} : u(x)\lambda = \lambda \text{ for all } u \in S^{p}_{A}\} = \{0\},\$$

where the last equality follows since $A_p(G)$ is semisimple with spectrum G. By weak ergodicity of (v_n) , it follows that $\langle \pi(v_n)(z_1), z_2 \rangle = v_n(x)z_1\overline{z_2} \to 0$ for all $z_1, z_2 \in \mathbb{C}$, hence $v_n(x) \to 0$.

(iii) \Rightarrow (i): Let $\{\pi, \mathscr{H}\}$ be a non-degenerate *-representation of $A_p(G)$. We first consider the representation $\{S_{\mu}, L^2(G, \mu)\}$ of Proposition 3.2.3. By Proposition 3.3.2, S_{μ} extends uniquely to $MA_p(G)$, and $\widetilde{S_{\mu}}(v)([h]) = [vh]$ for all $v \in MA_p(G)$, $[h] \in L^2(G, \mu)$. For any $[h] \in L^2(G, \mu)$ we have:

$$\begin{aligned} ||\widetilde{S_{\mu}}(v_n)([h]) - \widetilde{S_{\mu}}(v_m)([h])||_2^2 &= \int_G |(v_n h - v_m h)(x)|^2 \, d\mu(x) \\ &= \int_G |v_n(x) - v_m(x)|^2 \, |h(x)|^2 \, d\mu(x) \end{aligned}$$

As $n, m \to \infty$, $|v_n(x) - v_m(x)|^2 |h(x)|^2 \to 0$ by (iii). Moreover,

$$\begin{aligned} |v_n(x) - v_m(x)|^2 |h(x)|^2 &\leq (|v_n(x)| + |v_m(x)|)^2 |h(x)|^2 \\ &\leq (||v_n||_{\sup} + ||v_m||_{\sup})^2 |h(x)|^2 \\ &\leq (||v_n||_M + ||v_m||_M)^2 |h(x)|^2 \\ &\leq (1+1)^2 |h(x)|^2 = 4 |h(x)|^2. \end{aligned}$$

Since the function $4|h|^2$ belongs to $\mathscr{L}^1(G,\mu)$, we can apply the Lebesgue dominated convergence theorem, and we obtain that

$$\lim_{n,m\to\infty} ||\widetilde{S_{\mu}}(v_n)([h]) - \widetilde{S_{\mu}}(v_m)([h])||_2^2 = \int_G \lim_{n,m\to\infty} |v_n(x) - v_m(x)|^2 |h(x)|^2 d\mu(x) = 0.$$

That is, $(\widetilde{S}_{\mu}(v_n)([h]))$ is a Cauchy sequence in $L^2(G,\mu)$, and consequently converges to some $[f] \in L^2(G,\mu)$. Another application of the dominated convergence theorem yields that, for any $v \in S^p_M$, $[h] \in L^2(G,\mu)$, (4.1)

$$||\widetilde{S_{\mu}}(v)(\widetilde{S_{\mu}}(v_n)([h])) - \widetilde{S_{\mu}}(v_n)([h])||_2^2 = \int_G |v(x)v_n(x) - v_n(x)|^2 |h(x)|^2 d\mu(x) \to 0.$$

Hence the limit [f] is a fixed point of $\{S_{\mu}, L^2(G, \mu)\}$.

Now take an arbitrary non-degenerate *-representation $\{\pi, \mathscr{H}\}$. For all $u \in A_p(G)$, it follows by Theorem 3.2.4 that $\pi(u) = W^*S_{\mu}(u)W$ for a linear isometry W from \mathscr{H} onto $L^2(G,\mu)$. Then, for any $u \in S^p_A$, $v \in S^p_M$, $\xi \in \mathscr{H}$, we have

$$\begin{aligned} ||\widetilde{\pi}(v)(\widetilde{\pi}(v_{n})(\pi(u)\xi)) - \widetilde{\pi}(v_{n})(\pi(u)\xi)|| &= ||\pi(vv_{n}u)\xi - \pi(v_{n}u)\xi|| \\ &= ||W^{*}S_{\mu}(vv_{n}u)W\xi - W^{*}S_{\mu}(v_{n}u)W\xi|| \\ &= ||W^{*}(S_{\mu}(vv_{n}u)W\xi - S_{\mu}(v_{n}u)W\xi)|| \\ &\leq ||W^{*}|| \, ||S_{\mu}(vv_{n}u)W\xi - S_{\mu}(v_{n}u)W\xi||_{2} \\ &= ||S_{\mu}(vv_{n}u)W\xi - S_{\mu}(v_{n}u)W\xi||_{2} \\ &= ||\widetilde{S}_{\mu}(v)(\widetilde{S}_{\mu}(v_{n})(S_{\mu}(u)W\xi)) - \widetilde{S}_{\mu}(v_{n})(S_{\mu}(u)W\xi)||_{2} \\ &\to 0 \quad \text{by } (4.1). \end{aligned}$$

Therefore, by non-degeneracy of π it follows that, for all $\xi \in \mathscr{H}$, $(\widetilde{\pi}(v_n)\xi)$ converges to a fixed point of π . Indeed, $(\widetilde{\pi}(v_n)\xi)$ converges to an element in $\{\xi \in \mathscr{H} : \widetilde{\pi}(v)\xi = \xi \text{ for all } v \in S_M^p\}$, which is contained in \mathscr{H}_f . Thus, (v_n) is strongly ergodic.

(iii) \Rightarrow (v): Assume that (v_n) converges pointwise to $1_{\{e\}}$. In particular, $|v_n(x)| \leq ||v_n||_{\sup} \leq ||v_n||_M = 1$, *i.e.*, $|v_n| \leq 1_G$. Let $\mu \in \mathcal{M}(G)$. Since μ is bounded, $1_G \in \mathscr{L}^1(G, \mu)$. Thus, the dominated convergence theorem is applicable, and we obtain

$$\lim_{n} \langle v_n, \mu \rangle = \lim_{n} \int_{G} v_n(x) \, d\mu(x) = \int_{G} \lim_{n} v_n(x) \, d\mu(x)$$
$$= \int_{G} \mathbb{1}_{\{e\}}(x) \, d\mu(x) = \mu(\{e\}) = \langle \Psi, \mu \rangle,$$

where the last equality follows by [43, Proposition 10.].

Next, let $T \in M_p(G)$ and let $(\mu_n) \subset M(G)$ such that $||T - \mu_n||_{PM_p} \to 0$. Then we have:

$$\begin{aligned} |\langle v_n, T \rangle - \langle \Psi, T \rangle| &\leq |\langle v_n, T \rangle - \langle v_n, \mu_n \rangle| + |\langle v_n, \mu_n \rangle - \langle \Psi, \mu_n \rangle| \\ &+ |\langle \Psi, \mu_n \rangle - \langle \Psi, T \rangle| \\ &\leq ||v_n||_M ||T - \mu_n||_{\mathrm{PM}_{\mathrm{P}}} + |\langle v_n, \mu_n \rangle - \langle \Psi, \mu_n \rangle| \\ &+ ||\Psi|| \, ||\mu_n - T||_{\mathrm{PM}_{\mathrm{P}}} \\ &\to 0. \end{aligned}$$

Therefore, $\langle v_n, T \rangle \rightarrow \langle \Psi, T \rangle$.

The next corollary is now immediate and provides an analogue of [70, Theorem 3.1].

Corollary 4.1.4. Let (u_n) be a sequence in S_A^p . The following assertions are equivalent:

- (i) (u_n) is strongly ergodic.
- (ii) (u_n) is weakly ergodic.
- (iii) For all $x \in G$, $x \neq e$, $u_n(x) \to 0$.
- (iv) For every $\varphi \in C_{\delta,p}(G)$, $\langle u_n, \varphi \rangle \to \langle \Psi, \varphi \rangle$.
- (v) For every $T \in M_p(G)$, $\langle u_n, T \rangle \rightarrow \langle \Psi, T \rangle$.

In regards to the existence of ergodic sequences in $MA_p(G)$, the proof of the next proposition may be patterned after that of [70, Corollary 3.2], and so we omit the details.

Proposition 4.1.5. Let G be a locally compact group. Then $MA_p(G)$ contains a strongly ergodic sequence if and only if G is first countable.

4.2 Functorial properties.

Proposition 4.2.1. Let G be a locally compact group and H be a closed subgroup of G. If (u_n) is an ergodic sequence in $S^p_A(G)$, then the sequence of restrictions ($\operatorname{Res}_H u_n$) is ergodic in $S^p_A(H)$.

Proof. Let $u \in S^p_A(G)$. By [48, Theorem 1.] we have

$$1 = Res_H u(e) \le ||Res_H u||_{\sup} \le ||Res_H u||_{A_p(H)} \le ||u||_{A_p(G)} = 1,$$

hence $\operatorname{Res}_H u \in S^p_A(H)$.

Now let (u_n) be an ergodic sequence in $S^p_A(G)$. By Corollary 4.1.4, $u_n(x) \to 0$ for each $x \in G$, $x \neq e$. In particular, for each $y \in H$, $y \neq e$, $(Res_H u_n)(y) = u_n(y) \to 0$, hence $(Res_H u_n)$ is ergodic in $S^p_A(H)$.

Proposition 4.2.2. Let G be a locally compact group and H be an open subgroup of G. If (u_n) is an ergodic sequence in $S^p_A(H)$, then the sequence (\mathring{u}_n) is ergodic in $S^p_A(G)$, where for any $h \in A_p(H)$ the function $\mathring{h} \in A_p(G)$ is defined by $\mathring{h}(x) = h(x)$ if $x \in H$, and $\mathring{h}(x) = 0$ if $x \notin H$.

Proof. Let $u \in S^{p}_{A}(H)$. By [48, Proposition 5.] we have

$$1 = \dot{u}(e) \le ||\dot{u}||_{\sup} \le ||\dot{u}||_{\mathcal{A}_{p}(G)} = ||u||_{\mathcal{A}_{p}(H)} = 1,$$

hence $\mathring{u} \in S^p_A(G)$. The conclusion now follows from Corollary 4.1.4.

4.3 Examples via well distributed sequences.

V. Losert and H. Rindler [75] introduced a notion of well distributed sequence in semitopological semigroups and showed the existence of a well distributed sequence generator. After recalling their definition, we will adapt it to get a notion of well distributed sequences in the Figà-Talamanca-Herz algebras, which lead to some examples of ergodic sequences.

Definition 2. A semitopological semigroup S is an (algebraic) semigroup equipped with a Hausdorff topology τ for which the multiplication in S is

separately continuous, that is, for any fixed $s \in S$, the mappings $t \mapsto st$ and $t \mapsto ts$ are continuous (with respect to τ).

Examples. 1. Let A be a Banach algebra, and let S denote its (closed) unit ball. Then S, equipped with the (induced) norm topology, is a semitopological semigroup. In this case, the multiplication in S is even jointly continuous, that is, the map $S \times S \to S$, $(s, t) \mapsto st$, is continuous when $S \times S$ has the product topology.

As a consequence, if $A = A_p(G)$ (resp. $A = MA_p(G)$), then S^p_A (resp. S^p_M) is a semitopological semigroup whose multiplication is jointly continuous.

2. Let G be a locally compact group, $A = PM_p(G)$, and S denote the (closed) unit ball of A. Then S, equipped with the weak* topology, is a semitopological semigroup. However, if G is not compact, then the multiplication in S is not jointly continuous; the reverse is also true. See [69, Theorem 8.8].

Definition 3. Let S be a semitopological semigroup. A sequence (x_n) in S is said to be *well distributed* (respectively *uniformly distributed*) if the following condition is satisfied: for any $\varepsilon > 0$, whenever $\{T, \mathcal{H}\}$ is a continuous representation of S as contractions on a Hilbert space \mathcal{H} , and $\eta \in \mathcal{H}$, there exists $N_0 \in \mathbb{N}$ such that for all $N \geq N_0$,

$$\left\|\frac{1}{N}\sum_{n=k+1}^{k+N}T(x_n)\eta - P_f\eta\right\| < \varepsilon \quad \text{for all } k \in \mathbb{N}$$
$$\left(\text{respectively } \left\|\frac{1}{N}\sum_{n=1}^{N}T(x_n)\eta - P_f\eta\right\| < \varepsilon\right),$$

where P_f denotes the orthogonal projection from \mathscr{H} onto the fixed point set \mathscr{H}_f of T.

Theorem 4.3.1. [75, Theorem 1.] There exists a sequence of integers (r_j) with the following universal property: if S is any semitopological semigroup and (a_n) any sequence in S generating a dense subsemigroup of S, then the sequence (x_n) is well distributed, where $x_1 = a_{r_1}, x_2 = a_{r_1} \cdot a_{r_2}, \ldots, x_n = a_{r_1} \cdots a_{r_n}, \ldots$ Such a sequence (r_j) is called a well distributed sequence generator (w.d.s.g.). **Definition 4.** A sequence (u_n) in S^p_A is said to be *well distributed* if the following condition is satisfied: for any $\varepsilon > 0$, whenever $\{T, \mathscr{H}\}$ is a non-degenerate *-representation of $A_p(G), \eta \in \mathscr{H}$, there exists $N_0 \in \mathbb{N}$ such that for all $N \geq N_0$,

$$\left\|\frac{1}{N}\sum_{n=k+1}^{k+N}T(u_n)\eta - P_f\eta\right\| < \varepsilon \quad \text{for all } k \in \mathbb{N},$$

where P_f denotes the orthogonal projection from \mathscr{H} onto \mathscr{H}_f .

Remark 4.3.1. Let (u_n) be a sequence in S_A^p . If (u_n) is well distributed, then the sequence $\left(\frac{1}{N}\sum_{n=k+1}^{k+N}u_n\right)_N$ is strongly ergodic for all $k \in \mathbb{N}$.

Lemma 4.3.2. Let $u \in A_p(G)$ with $||u||_{A_p} \leq 1$, and let $\{T, \mathscr{H}\}$ be a cyclic *-representation of $A_p(G)$. Then T(u) is a contractive operator on \mathscr{H} .

Proof. First consider the representation $\{S_{\mu}, L^2(G, \mu)\}$ as in Lemma 3.1.1. For any $u \in A_p(G)$ with $||u||_{A_p} \leq 1$ and any $h \in L^2(G, \mu)$ we have

$$||S_{\mu}(u)(h)||_{2} = ||uh||_{2} \le ||u||_{\mathcal{A}_{p}} ||h||_{2} \le ||h||_{2}.$$

Hence $S_{\mu}(u)$ is a contraction on $L^2(G, \mu)$.

If $\{T, \mathscr{H}\}$ is an arbitrary cyclic *-representation of $A_p(G)$, then by Lemma 3.1.2, there exists an isometry W from \mathscr{H} onto $L^2(G, \mu)$, for some $\mu \in M^+(G)$, such that $T(u) = W^*S_{\mu}(u)W$ for all $u \in A_p(G)$. Thus, for any $u \in A_p(G)$ with $||u||_{A_p} \leq 1$ it ensues that

$$||T(u)|| = ||W^*S_{\mu}(u)W|| \le ||W^*|| \, ||S_{\mu}(u)|| \, ||W|| = ||S_{\mu}(u)|| \le ||u||_{A_{p}} \le 1,$$

hence T(u) is a contraction on \mathscr{H} .

Lemma 4.3.3. Let S be a subsemigroup of S_A^p , (u_n) be a sequence in S such that (u_n) generates a dense subsemigroup of S, and let (r_j) be a w.d.s.g.. If (x_n) denotes the sequence of Theorem 4.3.1, the following condition is satisfied:

whenever $\{T, \mathscr{H}\}$ is a cyclic *-representation of $A_p(G)$ the equation

$$\lim_{N \to \infty} \frac{1}{N} \sum_{n=k+1}^{k+N} T(x_n) = P_f$$

holds uniformly in k with respect to the strong operator topology of $\mathscr{B}(\mathscr{H})$.

Proof. It is a consequence of Theorem 4.3.1 and Lemma 4.3.2.

Theorem 4.3.4. Let S be a subsemigroup of S_A^p , (u_n) be a sequence in S such that (u_n) generates a dense subsemigroup of S, and let (r_j) be a w.d.s.g.. Then the sequence (x_n) is well distributed in the sense of Definition 4, where $x_1 = u_{r_1}, x_2 = u_{r_1} \cdot u_{r_2}, \ldots, x_n = u_{r_1} \cdots u_{r_n}, \ldots$

Proof. Let $\{T, \mathscr{H}\}$ be a non-degenerate *-representation of $A_p(G)$, and let $\{T_{\alpha}, \mathscr{H}_{\alpha}\}$ be cyclic *-representations of $A_p(G)$ such that $T = \sum_{\alpha} T_{\alpha}$ and $\mathscr{H} = \bigoplus_{\alpha} \mathscr{H}_{\alpha}$. For each α , let $P_{\alpha,f}$ be the orthogonal projection from \mathscr{H}_{α} onto the fixed point set $\mathscr{H}_{\alpha,f}$, and let P_f be the orthogonal projection from \mathscr{H} onto \mathscr{H}_f . Then we have:

$$\mathcal{H}_{f} = \left\{ \xi \in \mathcal{H} : T(u)\xi = \xi \text{ for all } u \in S^{p}_{A} \right\}$$
$$= \left\{ (\xi_{\alpha}) \in \bigoplus_{\alpha} \mathcal{H}_{\alpha} : \left(\sum_{\alpha} T_{\alpha}(u) \right) (\xi_{\alpha}) = (\xi_{\alpha}) \text{ for all } u \in S^{p}_{A} \right\}$$
$$= \left\{ (\xi_{\alpha}) \in \bigoplus_{\alpha} \mathcal{H}_{\alpha} : T_{\alpha}(u)\xi_{\alpha} = \xi_{\alpha} \text{ for all } u \in S^{p}_{A} \text{ and for all } \alpha \right\}$$
$$= \left\{ (\xi_{\alpha}) \in \bigoplus_{\alpha} \mathcal{H}_{\alpha} : \xi_{\alpha} \in \mathcal{H}_{\alpha,f} \text{ for all } \alpha \right\} = \bigoplus_{\alpha} \mathcal{H}_{\alpha,f}.$$

Hence $P_f = \sum_{\alpha} P_{\alpha,f}$. Moreover, by Lemma 4.3.3,

$$\lim_{N \to \infty} \frac{1}{N} \sum_{n=k+1}^{k+N} T_{\alpha}(x_n) = P_{\alpha,f} \text{ for all } \alpha \text{ and all } k \in \mathbb{N}.$$
So we conclude that

$$\lim_{N \to \infty} \frac{1}{N} \sum_{n=k+1}^{k+N} T(x_n) = \lim_{N \to \infty} T\left(\frac{1}{N} \sum_{n=k+1}^{k+N} x_n\right)$$
$$= \lim_{N \to \infty} \sum_{\alpha} T_{\alpha} \left(\frac{1}{N} \sum_{n=k+1}^{k+N} x_n\right)$$
$$= \sum_{\alpha} \lim_{N \to \infty} T_{\alpha} \left(\frac{1}{N} \sum_{n=k+1}^{k+N} x_n\right)$$
$$= \sum_{\alpha} P_{\alpha,f} = P_f,$$

that is, (x_n) is well distributed in the sense of Definition 4.

Chapter 5

Complete mixing problem for multipliers.

The motivation for this chapter is the following question: For a fixed $u \in S_M^p$, when is the sequence (u^n) of iterates of u strongly ergodic? In considering this problem, we are led to introduce a natural notion of ergodicity for multipliers, as well as various notions of mixing, all reflecting the well known theory of ergodic and mixing probability measures on locally compact (Abelian) groups [10, 32] (see also [86, 90, 39, 53, 54, 2, 1, 74, 14, 4]). In particular, using the theory of random walks and boundaries on groups, W. Jaworski [53] shows that if G is a locally compact Abelian group, a probability measure on G is ergodic if and only if it is completely mixing. In this paper, we shall not only provide a different proof of Jaworski's result, which is very transparent from the point of view of harmonic analysis, but we shall also extend it to all multipliers of any Tauberian, semisimple, regular, commutative Banach algebra, hence to the algebra $MA_p(G)$ of any locally compact group (Theorem 5.1.1). Thus, we provide a solution to the dual version of the complete mixing problem, which states that ergodicity and mixing are equivalent notions, and in doing so, we unify the Foguel type theorem and the Choquet-Deny type theorem recently considered by E. Kaniuth, A. T.-M. Lau and A. Ulger in [56] (Theorem 5.2.1). In addition, we also get rid of the assumption that the algebra admits a bounded approximate identity in [56, Theorem 3.4].

Lately, the complete mixing problem for measures has been definitely solved in the case of [SIN] groups [54] and in the case of locally compact motion groups [2]. However, the problem seems to be still open in the case of σ -compact locally compact groups. See [54, 2] for more information on this problem. Finally, we want to mention that it is Jaworski's papers [53, 54], Kaniuth et al. paper [56], and Lemma 3.2.6 in [11] that gave us the impetus to study these notions in our context.

Throughout this section, we let A be a Tauberian, semisimple, regular, commutative Banach algebra. We denote its Gelfand spectrum by $\Delta(A)$ and the Gelfand transform by $a \mapsto \hat{a}$, where $\hat{a}(\varphi) = \varphi(a)$ for any $\varphi \in \Delta(A)$. For any closed subset F of $\Delta(A)$ we write

$$j(F) = \{a \in A : supp(\widehat{a}) \text{ is compact}, supp(\widehat{a}) \cap F = \emptyset\},\$$

and

$$k(F) = \{ a \in A : \widehat{a}(\varphi) = 0 \text{ for all } \varphi \in F \}.$$

If F is a singleton, say $\{\phi\}$, we write $k(\phi)$ instead of $k(\{\phi\})$. We say that F is a set of spectral synthesis if $\overline{j(F)} = k(F)$. See [62, chapter 8.] or [55, chapter 5.] for more information. Our notation here agrees with the one used in [56].

Remark 5.1. We recall that $A_p(G)$ is a Tauberian, semisimple, regular, commutative Banach algebra [48, Proposition 3.] and that the group G may be identified with the Gelfand spectrum of $A_p(G)$ [48, Theorem 3.]. It is known that singletons in G are always sets of spectral synthesis [48, 29] and so are the closed normal subgroups of G [48, Proposition 2.] (see also [20, Corollary 4.] and [22]).

A linear operator $T: A \to A$ is called a *multiplier of* A if T(ab) = aT(b)holds for all $a, b \in A$. We write M(A) for the unital commutative Banach algebra of all multipliers of A. For each $T \in M(A)$ we let \widehat{T} denote the unique function in $\operatorname{CB}(\Delta(A))$ such that $\widehat{T(a)}(\varphi) = \widehat{T}(\varphi)\widehat{a}(\varphi)$ for all $a \in A$ and $\varphi \in \Delta(A)$ [61, Theorem 1.2.2]. The book of R. Larsen [61] is a standard reference for multipliers.

Remark 5.2. T. Miao [77, Proposition 3.1] showed that $MA_p(G) = M(A_p(G))$ for any locally compact group G.

We now introduce the notion of ergodicity and mixing for multipliers. Compare with [90] and [54]. **Definition 5.** Let F be a closed subset in $\triangle(A)$, and let $T \in M(A)$ such that $||T|| = 1 = \widehat{T}(\varphi)$ for all $\varphi \in F$. We say that T is F-ergodic if

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \left\| \frac{1}{n} \sum_{k=1}^{n} T^k(a) \right\| = 0 \text{ for all } a \in k(F);$$

T is weakly F-mixing if

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{1}{n} \sum_{k=1}^{n} |\langle T^k(a), f \rangle| = 0 \text{ for all } a \in k(F) \text{ and all } f \in A^*;$$

T is F-mixing if

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} |\langle T^n(a), f \rangle| = 0 \text{ for all } a \in k(F) \text{ and all } f \in A^*;$$

T is completely F-mixing if

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} ||T^n(a)|| = 0 \text{ for all } a \in k(F).$$

5.1 Ergodic multipliers of $A_p(G)$.

We first consider the case when $A = A_p(G)$ and $F = \{e\}$. Write $A_p(G)_0 := \{v \in A_p(G) : v(e) = 0\} = k(e)$, and for $u \in MA_p(G)$, let I_u be the norm closure of $\{uf - f : f \in A_p(G)\}$. According to [11], the elements of the annihilator I_u^{\perp} are called *u*-harmonic functionals. In the sequel, we shall say that u is "ergodic" instead of " $\{e\}$ -ergodic", and so on.

Then the complete mixing problem for multipliers of $A_p(G)$ is solved in the next theorem.

Theorem 5.1.1. Let G be a locally compact group and let $u \in S_M^p$. The following statements are equivalent:

- (i) $(u^n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ is strongly ergodic.
- (ii) For any neighborhood V of e, $u^n(x) \to 0$ for all $x \in G \setminus V$.
- (iii) |u(x)| < 1 for all $x \in G$, $x \neq e$.
- (iv) u is completely mixing.

(v) u is mixing.

- (vi) u is weakly mixing.
- (vii) u is ergodic.
- (viii) $I_u = A_p(G)_0$.

(ix) $I_u^{\perp} = \mathbb{C} \lambda_p(e).$

Proof. (i) \Leftrightarrow (iii): Assume that (i) holds. We recall from Theorem 4.1.3 that (u^n) is ergodic if and only if $u^n(x) \to 0$ for all $x \in G$, $x \neq e$. Since $||u||_M = 1$, it follows that $|u(x)| \leq ||u||_{\sup} \leq ||u||_M = 1$ for all $x \in G$, hence |u(x)| < 1 whenever $x \neq e$. The reverse implication is trivial.

(ii)
$$\Leftrightarrow$$
 (iii) is a consequence of (i) \Leftrightarrow (iii)

(iii) \Leftrightarrow (iv): If (iii) holds, then $\lim_n ||u^n v||_{A_p} = 0$ for all $v \in j(e)$ by [56, Theorem 2.1]. Let $a \in A_p(G)_0$. Since $\{e\}$ is a set of spectral synthesis, for any $\varepsilon > 0$ there exists $b \in j(e)$ such that $||a - b||_{A_p} < \varepsilon$. Then

$$\begin{aligned} ||u^{n}a||_{\mathcal{A}_{p}} &\leq ||u^{n}(a-b)||_{\mathcal{A}_{p}} + ||u^{n}b||_{\mathcal{A}_{p}} \\ &\leq ||u^{n}||_{\mathcal{M}}||a-b||_{\mathcal{A}_{p}} + ||u^{n}b||_{\mathcal{A}_{p}} < \varepsilon + ||u^{n}b||_{\mathcal{A}_{p}}. \end{aligned}$$

Therefore, $\lim_{n} ||u^{n}a||_{A_{p}} = 0$ for all $a \in A_{p}(G)_{0}$. The reverse implication also follows from [56, Theorem 2.1].

The implications (iv) \Rightarrow (v) \Rightarrow (vi) and (iv) \Rightarrow (vii) may be proved with standard calculations.

(vi) \Rightarrow (ix): Clearly, $\mathbb{C}\lambda_p(e) \subseteq I_u^{\perp}$. To prove the reverse inclusion, let $T \in I_u^{\perp}$ and $a \in A_p(G)_0$. By assumption,

(5.1)
$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{1}{n} \sum_{k=1}^{n} |\langle u^k a, T \rangle| = 0.$$

Since $T \in I_u^{\perp}$, it may be seen that $\langle T, v \rangle = \langle T, uv \rangle$ and that $v \cdot T \in I_u^{\perp}$, for all $v \in A_p(G)$. Hence, $\langle u^k a, T \rangle = \langle a, T \rangle$. By (5.1) we have $\langle a, T \rangle = 0$, and $a \cdot T = 0$ (using the fact that $A_p(G)_0$ is a closed ideal). Thus, by the definition of the support of a *p*-pseudomeasure ([48, p. 119], [23, Chapter 6.]), it follows that

(5.2)
$$a(x) = 0$$
 for all $x \in supp(T)$, whenever $a \in A_p(G)_0$.

If $supp(T) \neq \{e\}$ and $x \in supp(T), x \neq e$, by regularity of $A_p(G)$ there exists $v \in A_p(G)$ such that v(x) = 1 and v(e) = 0. But this contradicts (5.2). Therefore, $supp(T) = \{e\}$ and by the "Lemme de contraction des supports" [29, p. 63] we then conclude that $T \in \mathbb{C}\lambda_p(e)$.

(vii) \Rightarrow (ix) Let $T \in PM_p(G)$ such that $u \cdot T = T$, and let $a \in A_p(G)_0$. By assumption, $\frac{1}{n} \sum_{i=1}^n u^i a$ converges to 0 in norm, hence weakly; in particular,

$$\left|\left\langle \frac{1}{n}\sum_{i=1}^{n}u^{i}a,T\right\rangle\right| \to 0 \quad \text{as } n\to\infty.$$

However,

$$\left\langle \frac{1}{n} \sum_{i=1}^{n} u^{i} a, T \right\rangle = \left\langle a, \frac{1}{n} \sum_{i=1}^{n} u^{i} \cdot T \right\rangle$$
$$= \left\langle a, \frac{1}{n} \sum_{i=1}^{n} u^{i-1} \cdot T \right\rangle = \langle a, T \rangle.$$

Thus, $\langle a, T \rangle = 0$, and (5.2) holds. The rest of the proof is now similar to (vi) \Rightarrow (ix).

(viii) \Leftrightarrow (ix) follows by [62, Theorem 7.1.2] since $A_p(G)$ is regular.

(ix) \Rightarrow (iii): We will show that $\{e\} = \{x \in G : u(x) = 1\}$ and the desired conclusion will be immediate. Since $u \in S_M^p$, we only need to verify that, if u(x) = 1 for some $x \in G$, then x = e. To that matter, let $v \in A_p(G)$ be arbitrary. Then we have $\langle v - uv, \lambda_p(x) \rangle = v(x) - u(x)v(x) = 0$, hence $\lambda_p(x) \in I_u^{\perp} = \mathbb{C}\lambda_p(e)$, and as u(x) = 1, it ensues that $\lambda_p(x) = \lambda_p(e)$. But by semisimplicity of $A_p(G)$, the map $\lambda_p : G \to PM_p(G)$ is injective, and therefore x = e.

Remark 5.1.1. We obtain Jaworski's result, mentioned in the introduction, by assuming G to be Abelian and by taking p = 2 in Theorem 5.1.1. Indeed, it is well known that the multipliers of $L^1(G)$ are in one-to-one correspondence with the bounded Radon measures on G [61]. We now turn to the question of the existence of ergodic multipliers. The next lemma is certainly well known and is presented here without proof. The case in which p = 2 is the content of [40, Corollary 6.9].

Lemma 5.1.2. Let G be a locally compact group. Then $A_p(G)$ is separable if and only if G is second countable.

Following the notation introduced in [105], we let $\mathscr{J} := \{I_u : u \in S^p_A\}$. \mathscr{J} is a set consisting of closed ideals in $A_p(G)$, which we regard as being partially ordered by inclusion.

Theorem 5.1.3. Let G be a locally compact group. The following statements are equivalent:

- (i) G is first countable.
- (ii) There exists an ergodic $u \in S^{p}_{A}$.
- (iii) There exists an ergodic $v \in S_M^p$.
- (iv) \mathscr{J} has a unique maximal ideal, namely $A_p(G)_0$.

Proof. We start by noticing that (ii) \Leftrightarrow (iii) holds once we know that, if $v \in S^p_M$ is ergodic, then $vu \in S^p_A$ is ergodic for all $u \in S^p_A$.

(ii) \Leftrightarrow (iv): If $u \in S_A^p$ is ergodic, then $A_p(G)_0 = I_u \in \mathscr{J}$, and $A_p(G)_0$ is clearly the unique maximal ideal in \mathscr{J} . Conversely, if \mathscr{J} has a unique maximal ideal, say I_u for some $u \in S_A^p$, then $I_u = A_p(G)_0$ and u is ergodic given Theorem 5.1.1. Indeed, using Lemma 6.2.4 in Chapter 6, one can show that $A_p(G)_0 = \overline{span}\{I_\sigma : \sigma \in S_A^p\}$ (see [11, Lemma 3.2.3] for the case p = 2), and it then follows by maximality of I_u that $A_p(G)_0 \subseteq I_u$.

(iii) \Rightarrow (i) is a consequence of Theorem 5.1.1 and Proposition 4.1.5.

(i) \Rightarrow (ii): Let us first assume that G is second countable, and let $\varepsilon > 0$, $f_1, \ldots, f_n \in A_p(G)_0$. By Lemma 5.1.2, $A_p(G)_0$ is separable, and by Lemma 6.2.5 in Chapter 6, we have for each $i = 1, \ldots, n$,

$$0 = |f_i(e)| = \inf\{||uf_i||_{A_p} : u \in S_A^p\} < \varepsilon.$$

Let $u_i \in S^p_A$ such that $||u_i f_i|| < \varepsilon$, and set $u = u_1 \cdots u_n \in S^p_A$. So we have

$$d(f_i, I_u) = \inf\{ ||f_i - \psi|| : \psi \in I_u \} \le ||f_i - (f_i - uf_i)|| < \varepsilon.$$

Therefore, applying [105, Lemma 1.1 and Remark (3), p. 210] we obtain the existence of some $u_0 \in S^p_A$ such that $I_{u_0} = A_p(G)_0$, that is, u_0 is ergodic.

Now let $\{U_n\}$ be a countable basis of compact symmetric open neighborhoods of e such that $U_{n+1}^2 \subseteq U_n$, and assume that G is σ -compact. By the Kakutani-Kodaira Theorem [50, Theorem (8.7)], there exists a compact normal subgroup K of G such that G/K is second countable and $K \subseteq \bigcap_{n=1}^{\infty} U_n$. By above, there exists an ergodic $u \in S^p_A(G/K)$, *i.e.*, $u^n(xK) \to 0$ for all $x \in G$, $xK \neq eK$. Given [48, Proposition 6.], $u \circ q \in S^p_A$ whenever $u \in S^p_A(G/K)$, where $q : G \to$ G/K is the quotient map. And if V is an arbitrary neighborhood of e and $x \in G \smallsetminus V$, then $xK \neq eK$ since $\bigcap_{n=1}^{\infty} U_n \subseteq V$ so that $x \notin K$. Therefore, $(u \circ q)^n(x) = u^n(xK) \to 0$ and $u \circ q$ is ergodic in S^p_A by Theorem 5.1.1. Finally, in the general case, pick an open σ -compact subgroup H of G [50, Theorem (7.5)]. Then there exists an ergodic $u \in S^p_A(H)$, and $\mathring{u} \in S^p_A$ is

ergodic by Proposition 4.2.2 and Theorem 5.1.1.

Remark 5.1.2. a) In the context of the group algebra $L^1(G)$ of a second countable locally compact group, properties (iii) and (iv) were shown to be equivalent to amenability of G by J. Rosenblatt [90] and G. A. Willis [105] respectively.

b) For the case p = 2, Theorem 5.1.3 was proved in [83, Proposition 2.4]. See also [11, Proposition 3.2.7].

Corollary 5.1.4. If G is a first countable locally compact group, then $A_p(G)_0$ is always of the form I_u for some $u \in S^p_A$.

The next corollary displays an interesting connection with fixed point properties of p-pseudomeasures.

Corollary 5.1.5. Let $T \in PM_p(G)$ and let $u_0 \in S^p_A$ be ergodic. Then T is a u_0 -harmonic functional if and only if T is a u-harmonic functional for all $u \in S^p_A$. In other words, T is a fixed point under the action of u_0 if and only if T is a common fixed point for all $u \in S^p_A$.

Proof.

$$I_{u_0}^{\perp} = \mathbb{C}\lambda_p(e) = \{T \in \mathrm{PM}_p(G) : u \cdot T = T \text{ for all } u \in \mathrm{S}^{\mathrm{p}}_{\mathrm{A}}\}.$$

(See Lemma 6.2.4 in Chapter 6.).

5.2 *F*-ergodic multipliers.

In this section, we show that Theorem 5.1.1 is still true for any Tauberian, semisimple, regular, commutative Banach algebra A, and for any closed subset $F \subseteq \triangle(A)$. This leads to an improvement of [56, Theorem 3.4] where the algebra was assumed to have a bounded approximate identity, and it also shows that Theorem 2.1 and Theorem 3.4 in [56] are mutually equivalent if Fis a set of spectral synthesis. Nevertheless, the properties (ii), (iii), (vii), (viii) and (ix), in Theorem 5.2.1 below were first considered by Kaniuth, Lau, and Ülger in [56].

We now fix a commutative Banach algebra A which is Tauberian, semisimple and regular, and we let F be a closed subset of $\Delta(A)$.

Theorem 5.2.1. Let $T \in M(A)$ such that $||T|| = 1 = \widehat{T}(\varphi)$ for all $\varphi \in F$. If F is a set of spectral synthesis, then the following statements are equivalent:

- (i) $\widehat{T^n}(\gamma) \to 0$ pointwise for all $\gamma \in \triangle(A) \smallsetminus F$.
- (ii) $|\widehat{T}(\gamma)| < 1$ for all $\gamma \in \triangle(A) \smallsetminus F$.
- (iii) T is completely F-mixing.
- (iv) T is F-mixing.
- (v) T is weakly F-mixing.
- (vi) T is F-ergodic.
- (vii) $I_T = k(F)$.
- $(viii) \ \{f \in A^* \, : \, T^*f = f\} = \overline{span(F)}^{w^*}.$
- (ix) $F = F_T$, where $F_T := \{ \gamma \in \triangle(A) : \widehat{T}(\gamma) = 1 \}$.

Proof. The implications (i) \Leftrightarrow (ii) \Leftrightarrow (iii) \Rightarrow (iv) \Rightarrow (v) and (iii) \Rightarrow (vi) follows similarly as in the proof of Theorem 5.1.1. (ix) \Rightarrow (ii) is obvious, and (vii) \Leftrightarrow (viii) is a consequence of the regularity of A (see [62, Theorem 7.1.2])

and [56, Lemma 3.1.(v)]).

(viii) \Rightarrow (ix): By our assumption on T, we only need to show that $F_T \subseteq F$. Let $\gamma \in F_T$ and assume that $\gamma \notin F$. Since A is regular, there exists $a \in A$ such that $\hat{a}(\gamma) = 1$ and $\hat{a}_{|F} \equiv 0$. Moreover, $\langle a - T(a), \gamma \rangle = \hat{a}(\gamma) - \hat{T}(\gamma)\hat{a}(\gamma) = 0$, hence $\gamma \in I_T^{\perp} = \{f \in A^* : T^*f = f\} = \overline{\operatorname{span}(F)}^{w^*}$. So there exist $c_i \in \mathbb{C}$ and $\gamma_i \in F$ such that

$$\sum_{i=1}^{n_{\alpha}} c_i \gamma_i \xrightarrow{w^*} \gamma.$$

In particular, $\sum_{i=1}^{n_{\alpha}} c_i \langle \gamma_i, a \rangle \to \langle \gamma, a \rangle = 1$. But since $\gamma_i \in F$, $\langle \gamma_i, a \rangle = 0$, which is a contradiction. Therefore, $\gamma \in F$.

(vi) \Rightarrow (viii): Let $f \in A^*$ such that $T^*f = f$. As in the proof of Theorem 5.1.1, we have for every $a \in k(F)$:

(5.3)
$$\left\langle \frac{1}{n} \sum_{k=1}^{n} T^{k}(a), f \right\rangle = \langle a, f \rangle$$

By assumption, $\lim_{n\to\infty} \left\| \frac{1}{n} \sum_{k=1}^n T^k(a) \right\| = 0$, hence we obtain that

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \left| \left\langle \frac{1}{n} \sum_{k=1}^{n} T^k(a), f \right\rangle \right| = 0.$$

Therefore, $\langle a, f \rangle = 0$ by (5.3), so that $f \in k(F)^{\perp} = \overline{\operatorname{span}(F)}^{w^*}$ [56, Lemma 3.1.(v)].

The proof of $(v) \Rightarrow (viii)$ is similar to $(vi) \Rightarrow (viii)$.

Corollary 5.2.2. Let $T \in M(A)$ with ||T|| = 1. If F_T is a set of spectral synthesis, then T is F_T -ergodic.

- Remark 5.2.1. a) In Theorem 5.2.1, the assumption that F is a set of spectral synthesis cannot be removed, as Example 3.5 in [56] vindicates.
- b) If G is an amenable locally compact group, then every $u \in B(G)$ with $||u||_{B(G)} = 1$ is F_u -ergodic. [56, Corollary 4.6].
- c) If G is a non-discrete locally compact group, then there exists $u \in B(G)$ such that $||u||_{sup} = 1$ and F_u fails to be a set of spectral synthesis [56,

Corollary 4.4]. Moreover, if G is also amenable, then u cannot be power bounded [56, Theorem 4.1]. In every instance, there is no closed subset $F \subseteq G$, which is of spectral synthesis, such that u is F-ergodic.

Proposition 5.2.3. Let A be a Tauberian, semisimple and regular, commutative Banach algebra and $\phi \in \Delta(A)$. Assume that the following assertions hold:

- (i) $\{\phi\}$ is a set of spectral synthesis.
- (ii) $S_{\phi} := \{u \in A : ||u|| = \hat{u}(\phi) = 1\}$ is not empty and acts ergodically on A^* , i.e.,

$$\{\Phi \in A^* : \Phi \cdot u = \Phi \text{ for all } u \in S_{\phi}\} = \{\lambda \phi : \lambda \in \mathbb{C}\}.$$

(iii) A is separable.

Then there exists a ϕ -ergodic multiplier in S_{ϕ} .

For ease of notation we write $A_{0,\phi} := \{a \in A : \widehat{a}(\phi) = 0\}$, which is clearly a closed subspace of A, and for $T \in M(A)$ we write $I_T := \overline{(I-T)(A)}$.

Proof. Let $\varepsilon > 0$ and $f_1, \ldots, f_n \in A_{0,\phi}$. By Theorem 6.2.1 in Chapter 6. we have

$$0 = |\langle \phi, f_i \rangle| = \inf\{||uf_i|| : u \in S_{\phi}\} < \varepsilon, \quad \text{for each } i = 1, \dots, n.$$

Let $u_i \in S_{\phi}$ such that $||u_i f_i|| < \varepsilon$, and set $u = u_1 \cdots u_n \in S_{\phi}$. Then $||uf_i|| < \varepsilon$, and $f_i - uf_i \in I_u$ for each $i = 1, \ldots, n$. Therefore,

$$d(f_i, I_u) = \inf\{ ||f_i - \psi|| : \psi \in I_u \} \le ||f_i - (f_i - uf_i)|| < \varepsilon.$$

Since A is separable, so is $A_{0,\phi}$. Thus, we can now apply [105, Lemma 1.1 & Remark (3), p. 210] to obtain the existence of some $u \in S_{\phi}$ such that $I_u = A_{0,\phi}$, that is, u is ϕ -ergodic given Theorem 5.2.1.

Corollary 5.2.4. Let A, ϕ and S_{ϕ} as in Proposition 5.2.3. Let $T \in A^*$ and let $u_0 \in S_{\phi}$. Assume that u_0 is ϕ -ergodic. Then T is a fixed point under the action of u_0 if and only if T is a common fixed point for all $u \in S_{\phi}$. **Proof.** It is an immediate consequence of Theorem 5.2.1.(ix) and of the hypothesis on S_{ϕ} .

We end this chapter with a list of Banach algebras for which the content of Theorem 5.2.1 is applicable:

- 1. $A = L^{1}(G)$ for any locally compact Abelian group G.
- 2. A = A(G) for $G = SL_n(\mathbb{R})$, or for any connected semisimple non-compact Lie group with finite center. In this case, Theorem 5.2.1 seems to be a new result since such groups do not admit a bounded approximate identity for A(G) [21, section 4.]. More generally, Theorem 5.2.1 applies to the Figà-Talamanca-Herz algebra of all non-amenable locally compact groups, and for any 1 .
- 3. Let $1 and <math>1 \le r \le \infty$, and $A = A_p^r(G) := A_p(G) \cap L^r(G)$ be the Figà-Talamanca-Herz-Lebesgue algebra of a locally compact group G, as studied by E. E. Granirer [45]. If there exists an approximate identity (u_{α}) in $A_p(G)$ which is bounded in the multiplier norm $||.||_M$, and if (u_{α}) is in $A_p^r(G)$, then the conclusion of Theorem 5.2.1 is also verified for any multiplier T of $A_p^r(G)$ with ||T|| = 1 = T(e). Indeed, this is a consequence of [45, Theorem 1., Corollary 2. & Theorem 11.] and of Theorem 5.2.1.
- 4. A = L^p(G) for any compact Abelian group G and any 1 ≤ p < ∞, where the multiplication is given by the convolution product. In this case, every singleton in Ĝ, the dual group of G, is a set of spectral synthesis. In addition, if p = 1, then every closed subset of Ĝ is a set of spectral synthesis [62, Corollary 8.3.2].
- 5. $A = C_0(X)$ for a non-empty locally compact Hausdorff space X. In this case, every closed subset in X is a set of spectral synthesis [15, Theorem 4.2.1].
- 6. $A = S^1(G)$, any Segal algebra of a locally compact Abelian group G [87, §6.2]. In this case, every singleton in \widehat{G} is a set of spectral synthesis. Examples of such algebras include

- (a) $A = L^1(G) \cap L^p(G), 1 , with the norm <math>||f|| = ||f||_1 + ||f||_p$.
- (b) A = the algebra of all functions $f \in L^1(G)$ whose Fourier transform \widehat{f} belongs to $L^p(\widehat{G}), 1 \leq p < \infty$, with the norm $||f|| = ||f||_1 + ||\widehat{f}||_p$.
- 7. A = BVC₀(ℝ), the algebra of all complex-valued continuous functions on ℝ which are of bounded variation and which vanish at infinity, endowed with pointwise multiplication and the norm ||f|| = ||f||_{sup} + Var_ℝ(f). In this case, every singleton in ℝ is a set of spectral synthesis [80, Proposition 2.6].
- 8. Let (K, d) be a non-empty compact metric space, and let $0 < \alpha < 1$.
 - (a) $A = \text{Lip}_{\alpha}K$, the algebra of Lipschitz functions of order α , endowed with pointwise multiplication and the norm $||f||_{\alpha} = ||f||_{\sup} + p_{\alpha}(f)$, where

$$p_{\alpha}(f) = \sup\left\{\frac{|f(x) - f(y)|}{d(x, y)^{\alpha}} : x, y \in K, x \neq y\right\}.$$

In this case, every clopen (*i.e.*, open and closed) subset of K is a set of spectral synthesis [15, Theorem 4.4.24, Theorem 4.4.31].

(b) $A = \lim_{\alpha \to K} K$, the subalgebra of $\lim_{\alpha \to K} K$ consisting of all functions f such that

$$\frac{|f(x) - f(y)|}{d(x, y)^{\alpha}} \to 0 \quad \text{as} \quad d(x, y) \to 0.$$

In this case, every closed subset of K is a set of spectral synthesis [15, Theorem 4.4.30].

Chapter 6

Ergodic theorems for φ -amenable Banach algebras.

In this chapter, after proving a new characterization of left amenability for semigroups, we consider various ergodic and fixed point properties which characterize φ -amenability of Banach algebras. Among other things, we prove a mean ergodic theorem in that setting, and we establish the uniqueness of a φ -mean on the weakly almost periodic functionals.

6.1 Left amenability of semigroups.

Let S be a semitopological semigroup. We denote by $\operatorname{CB}(S)$ the space of all continuous bounded functions $f: S \to \mathbb{C}$. For $s \in S$ and $f \in \operatorname{CB}(S)$, the *left* translate of f by s is defined by $\ell_s f(t) = f(st)$ for $t \in S$. Then f is said to be *left uniformly continuous* if the map $s \mapsto \ell_s f$ is continuous with respect to the norm topology of $\operatorname{CB}(S)$. We write $\operatorname{LUC}(S)$ for the space of all left uniformly continuous functions on S. In particular, $\operatorname{LUC}(S)$ is a norm-closed, conjugateclosed, translation-invariant sub- C^* -algebra of $\operatorname{CB}(S)$ containing the constant functions.

Let $m \in LUC(S)^*$. Then *m* is called a *mean* on LUC(S) if $m(1_S) = 1 = ||m||$, where 1_S denotes the constant one function. We say that *m* is *left invariant* if $m(\ell_s f) = m(f)$ for all $s \in S$, $f \in LUC(S)$.

The notion of amenability for semigroups was first studied by M. M. Day [18, 19]. Since then, the subject has attracted many mathematicians (see [84,

85] and the references therein). The following definition is due to I. Namioka[81].

Definition 6. A semitopological semigroup S is called *left amenable* if LUC(S) admits a left invariant mean.

Remark 6.1.1. It is well known that every Abelian semitopological semigroup is left amenable.

A. T.-M. Lau [63, 68] studied various Hahn-Banach type properties which characterize left amenability of semitopological semigroups. See also [35].

In this section, we add two other Hahn-Banach separation properties to the list of properties characterizing left amenability. As an application, we will obtain in the next section some properties of $A_p(G)$ which are "of an ergodic nature".

From now on and for the rest of this section, let S be a semitopological semigroup.

Definition 7. By a continuous anti-representation of S on a normed linear space X we mean an anti-homomorphism $T : S \to \mathscr{L}(X)$ such that T is continuous with respect to the strong operator topology, $\mathscr{L}(X)$ being the algebra of bounded linear operators on X.

For any $x \in X$ we define the *orbit of* x as the set $O_S(x) := \{T_s x : s \in S\}$, and we write $K(x) := \overline{\operatorname{co}} O_S(x)$.

Definition 8. S is said to have the Hahn-Banach separation property I (HBSP I) if the following is satisfied: for any continuous anti-representation T of S as linear contractions on a normed linear space X, and for any closed invariant subspace Y of X such that $X \setminus Y$ contains an invariant element x_0 , there exists an invariant linear functional Φ on X such that $\Phi(x_0) = 1$, $\Phi(y) = 0$ for every $y \in Y$, and $||\Phi|| \leq \frac{1}{d(x_0,Y)}$.

Definition 9. S is said to have the Hahn-Banach separation property II (HBSP II) if the following is satisfied: for any continuous anti-representation T of S as linear contractions on a normed linear space X, any closed invariant subspace Y of X, and any $f \in X$ such that d := d(K(f), Y) > 0, there exists an invariant linear functional Ψ on X such that $\Psi = 0$ on Y, $\Psi(f) = 1$, and $||\Psi|| \leq \frac{1}{d}$. Remark 6.1.2. (i) If f is invariant, then $K(f) = \{f\}$, so that the HBSP II is clearly stronger than the HBSP I.

(ii) By [63, Theorem 1.(b)] and [12, Corollary 6.4, p.78], if S is left amenable, the following Hahn-Banach extension property is satisfied: for any right linear action of S on a topological vector space E, if p is a seminorm on X such that $p(s \cdot x) \leq p(x)$ for all $s \in S$, $x \in E$, and if ϕ is an invariant linear functional on an invariant subspace F of E such that $|\phi| \leq p$, then there exists an invariant extension ϕ of ϕ to E such that $|\phi| \leq p$.

The next theorem generalizes Theorem A. in [91].

Theorem 6.1.1. Assume that S has an identity. Then the following statements are equivalent:

- (i) S is left amenable.
- (ii) S has the HBSP I.
- (iii) S has the HBSP II.

Proof. (i) \Rightarrow (iii): Let T, X, Y, and f as in the HBSP II. We may assume that S has an identity e such that T_e is the identity transformation on X. Let W be the linear span of Y and K(f), *i.e.*, any $w \in W$ is of the form

(6.1)
$$w = y + \sum_{j=1}^{m} \alpha_j \sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_{i,j} T_{s_{i,j}} f \quad \text{with } y \in Y.$$

For such w, $T_s w = T_s y + \sum \alpha_j \sum \lambda_{i,j} T_{s_{i,j}s} f$, and $T_s w \in W$ since Y is invariant. Hence W is invariant. Now we define a linear functional ϕ on W by:

$$\phi(w) = \sum_{j=1}^{m} \alpha_j d$$
 if $w = y + \sum_{j=1}^{m} \alpha_j \sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_{i,j} T_{s_{i,j}} f$,

where d = d(K(f), Y) > 0. Clearly, ϕ is invariant, $\phi(y) = 0$ for every $y \in Y$, and $\phi(f) = d$. Set p(x) = ||x||, for $x \in X$. Then $|\phi(y)| = 0 \le p(y)$ for every $y \in Y$, and for every w of the form (6.1) with $\sum_{j=1}^{m} \alpha_j \neq 0$,

$$|\phi(w)| = \left|\sum_{j=1}^{m} \alpha_j\right| d \leq \left|\sum_{j=1}^{m} \alpha_j\right| \left\|\sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_{i,j} T_{s_{i,j}} f - \frac{-y}{\sum \alpha_j}\right\| = p(w).$$

Since S is left amenable, we may apply [63, Theorem 1.(b)] to obtain an invariant linear functional $\tilde{\phi}$ on X with $\tilde{\phi}(w) = \phi(w)$ for all $w \in W$, and $|\tilde{\phi}(x)| \leq p(x)$ for all $x \in X$. Thus, the invariant linear functional $\Psi := \frac{\tilde{\phi}}{d}$ meets the requirements for the HBSP II.

(ii) \Rightarrow (i): Consider the continuous anti-representation of S given by left translation on LUC(S), *i.e.*, $T_s f = \ell_s f$ for $s \in S$, $f \in LUC(S)$. For each $s \in S$, T_s is obviously a linear contraction. The constant function 1_S is (translation) invariant, so that $K(1_S) = \{1_S\}$, and $\{0\}$ is a closed invariant subspace of LUC(S) which does not contain 1_S . By assumption, there exists an invariant linear functional Ψ on LUC(S) such that $\Psi(0) = 0$, $\Psi(1_S) = 1$ and $||\Psi|| \leq 1$. So $||\Psi|| = 1$, and Ψ is a left invariant mean on LUC(S).

We recall that $S_A^p = \{u \in A_p(G) : u(e) = 1 = ||u||_{A_p}\}$ is an Abelian semitopological semigroup, hence is left amenable. A first consequence of Theorem 6.1.1 is the following

Corollary 6.1.2. Let $1 and let G be a locally compact group. For any closed <math>S^{p}_{A}$ -invariant subspace Y of $PM_{p}(G)$ which does not contain $\lambda_{p}(e)$, there exists a topologically left invariant mean Ψ on $PM_{p}(G)$ such that Ψ vanishes identically on Y.

Remark 6.1.3. We may replace $\text{PM}_p(G)$ by any topologically invariant closed subspace of $\text{PM}_p(G)$ containing $\lambda_p(e)$.

6.2 Ergodic characterization.

As a consequence of Theorem 6.1.1 we find an ergodic property which is equivalent to a unital Banach algebra, or a semisimple commutative Banach algebra being φ -amenable with a φ -mean of norm one.

We start with the definition of φ -amenable Banach algebras [58, 57, 98, 52].

Definition 10. Let A be a Banach algebra, and let φ be a non-zero multiplicative linear functional from A into \mathbb{C} . A is called φ -amenable if A admits a φ -mean, *i.e.*, a continuous linear functional $m \in A^{**}$ such that $\langle m, \varphi \rangle = 1$ and $\langle m, f \cdot a \rangle = \varphi(a) \langle m, f \rangle$ for all $f \in A^*$ and $a \in A$, where $\langle f \cdot a, b \rangle = \langle f, ab \rangle$, $b \in A$.

The property we mentioned above is defined next.

Definition 11. Let A be a Banach algebra and let φ be a non-zero multiplicative linear functional from A into \mathbb{C} . Set $S_{\varphi} := \{u \in A : ||u|| = 1 = \varphi(u)\}$. We say that S_{φ} acts ergodically on A^* if

$$Fix(S_{\varphi}) := \{ f \in A^* : u \cdot f = f \text{ for all } u \in S_{\varphi} \} = \{ \lambda \varphi : \lambda \in \mathbb{C} \},\$$

where $\langle u \cdot f, a \rangle = \langle f, au \rangle$, $u \in S_{\varphi}, a \in A, f \in A^*$. In other words, S_{φ} acts ergodically on A^* if the only common fixed points (for S_{φ}) are the constant multiples of φ .

Remark 6.2.1. Equipped with the relative norm topology of A, S_{φ} is a semi-topological semigroup and a convex set.

Let A be a Banach algebra and let φ be a non-zero multiplicative linear functional from A into \mathbb{C} such that S_{φ} is not empty and left amenable as a semigroup. Consider the antilinear action of S_{φ} on A given by the usual *reverse* multiplication of A. Then this antilinear action of S_{φ} on A defines a continuous anti-representation of S_{φ} as linear contractions on A.

Theorem 6.2.1. If A is unital, then the following assertions are equivalent:

- (i) A is φ -amenable with a φ -mean of norm one.
- (ii) S_{φ} acts ergodically on A^* .
- (iii) For every $f \in A$ we have:

$$|\langle \varphi, f \rangle| = \inf\{||fu|| : u \in S_{\varphi}\}.$$

Proof. The equivalence (i) \Leftrightarrow (iii) is a consequence of [57, Theorem 2.4]. (ii) \Rightarrow (iii): As S_{φ} is not empty, we first notice that $||\varphi|| = 1$. Let $f \in A$ with $d = d(0, K(f)) \ge 0$, where $K(f) = \overline{\{fu : u \in S_{\varphi}\}}$. By Theorem 6.1.1 there exists $\Phi \in A^*$ such that $\langle \Phi, f \rangle = d$, $||\Phi|| \le 1$, and $u \cdot \Phi = \Phi$ for all $u \in S_{\varphi}$. By assumption, $\Phi = \lambda \varphi$ for some $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$. Then we have:

$$|\lambda| = ||\lambda\varphi|| = ||\Phi|| \le 1 \text{ and } d = |\langle\Phi, f\rangle| = |\langle\lambda\varphi, f\rangle| = |\lambda| |\langle\varphi, f\rangle| \le |\langle\varphi, f\rangle|.$$

Since $d = \inf\{||fu|| : u \in S_{\varphi}\}$ and $|\langle \varphi, f \rangle| = |\varphi(u)\langle \varphi, f \rangle| \le ||fu||$ for all $u \in S_{\varphi}$, we conclude that $|\langle \varphi, f \rangle| \le d$. (i) \Rightarrow (ii): Let $\Phi \in Fix(S_{\varphi})$. Then $\overline{\{u \cdot \Phi : u \in S_{\varphi}\}}^{w^*} = \{\Phi\}$. By [57, Corollary 2.3], $\Phi \in span(\varphi)$, hence S_{φ} acts ergodically on A^* .

In Theorem 6.2.1 we assumed A to be unital in order that S_{φ} has an identity and that Theorem 6.1.1 is applicable. It is natural to ask what happens in case A is not unital. As a partial answer, we present below an argument such that the conclusion of Theorem 6.2.1 is still valid when A is commutative and semisimple.

From now on, unless otherwise stated, let A be a semisimple commutative Banach algebra, M(A) be its multiplier algebra, and φ be a non-zero multiplicative linear functional from A into \mathbb{C} , abbreviated $\varphi \in \Delta(A)$. We write

$$S_A := \{ u \in A : ||u|| = 1 = \varphi(u) \}$$

and

$$S_M := \{T \in \mathcal{M}(A) : ||T||_M = 1 = \varphi(T)\}.$$

We note that $\varphi(T)$, also denoted $\widehat{T}(\varphi)$, is well defined by [61, Theorem 1.2.2], and by [61, Theorem 1.1.4] we may identify any $u \in S_A$ with the multiplier $L_u \in S_M$ where $L_u v := uv$ for any $v \in A$. Also, since M(A) is a unital commutative Banach algebra, Theorem 6.2.1 holds for M(A) and $\varphi \in \Delta(M(A))$.

Remark 6.2.2. By an easy application of [57, Theorem 2.4], the following assertions are equivalent for any semisimple commutative Banach algebra A and any $\varphi \in \Delta(A)$:

- (i) There exists a φ -mean m on A such that ||m|| = 1.
- (ii) There exists a net (v_{β}) in M(A) such that $\varphi(v_{\beta}) = 1$ for all β , $||v_{\beta}|| \to 1$, and $||v_{\beta}a|| \to |\varphi(a)|$ for all $a \in A$.

By Remark 6.2.2 and by the proof of Theorem 6.2.1, if S_A acts ergodically on A^* , S_M also acts ergodically on A^* , and for any $f \in A$ we then have:

$$|\langle \varphi, f \rangle| = \inf\{||uf|| : u \in S_M\} = \inf\{||uf|| : u \in S_A\}.$$

Consequently, we obtain:

Theorem 6.2.2. The following assertions are equivalent:

- (i) A is φ -amenable with a φ -mean of norm one.
- (ii) $S_A \ (= S_{\varphi})$ acts ergodically on A^* .
- (iii) S_M acts ergodically on A^* .

By Theorem 6.2.2 we can now deduce that $A_p(G)$ is φ -amenable with a φ mean of norm one for any $\varphi \in \Delta(A_p(G))$, an assertion that was first obtained by M. Sangani Monfared [96, Lemma 3.1].

The next lemma is certainly well known, but we repeat it here for the sake of completeness.

Lemma 6.2.3. Let G be a locally compact group. For any $x \in G$, $x \neq e$, there exists $u \in S^{p}_{A}$ such that u(x) = 0.

Proof. Let $x \in G$, $x \neq e$. Let $U \subseteq G$ be an open neighborhood of e such that $x \notin U$, and let $V \subseteq G$ be a symmetric compact neighborhood of e such that $V^2 \subseteq U$. We set:

$$u(x) = \frac{1}{\lambda(V)} \chi_V * \widetilde{\chi_V}(x) = \frac{\lambda(xV \cap V)}{\lambda(V)}.$$

Then u belongs to S^{p}_{A} and u(x) = 0 since $xV \cap V = \emptyset$.

Remark 6.2.3. For the definition of the support of an element $T \in PM_p(G)$ and its properties, we refer to [28, Propositions (4.4),(4.6),(4.8)], [48, Proposition 10.], [29, §6], [97, Lemmas 3.7, 3.8] and [23, Chapter 6.].

Lemma 6.2.4. Let G be a locally compact group. Then S^p_A acts ergodically on $PM_p(G)$.

Proof. Let $T \in \mathrm{PM}_{p}(G)$. If $T = c\lambda_{p}(e)$ for some $c \in \mathbb{C}$, then it is clear that $T \in Fix(\mathrm{S}^{p}_{\mathrm{A}})$.

On the other hand, if $T \neq 0$ and $u \cdot T = T$ for all $u \in S_A^p$, then by [48, Proposition 10.],

$$supp(T) = supp(u \cdot T) \subseteq supp(u) \cap supp(T),$$

hence

$$supp(T) \subseteq supp(u)$$
 for all $u \in S^{p}_{A}$.

So if $x \in supp(T)$ and $x \neq e$, then $x \in supp(u)$ for all $u \in S^{p}_{A}$, but this is impossible by Lemma 6.2.3. Therefore x = e, $supp(T) = \{e\}$, and it follows by the "Lemme de contraction des supports" [29, §6.] that $T = c\lambda_{p}(e)$ for some $c \in \mathbb{C}$.

Corollary 6.2.5. For any locally compact group G, and $\phi \in A_p(G)$, we have:

(6.2)
$$|\phi(e)| = \inf\{||\phi u||_{A_p} : u \in S_A^p\}.$$

Corollary 6.2.6. [96, Lemma 3.1] For any locally compact group G and for every $\varphi \in \Delta(A_p(G))$, $A_p(G)$ is φ -amenable with a φ -mean of norm one.

Remark 6.2.4. A. T.-M. Lau [67] introduced the notion of F-algebras, nowadays known as Lau algebras, as follows: an F-algebra is a pair (A, M), where A is a Banach algebra and M is a W^* -algebra, such that A is the predual of M, and the identity of M is a multiplicative linear functional on A. Examples of Lau algebras include the Fourier algebra A(G), the Fourier-Stieltjes algebra B(G), the group algebra $L^1(G)$ of a locally compact group G, and the measure algebra $M(X) = C_0(X)^*$ of a locally compact semigroup X. Then, resulting from the study of these algebras, Lau [67, Corollary 4.9] showed that equation (6.2) holds for the Fourier algebra A(G) of any locally compact group. Earlier, H. Reiter showed that the validity of equation (6.2) for $L^1(G)$ is equivalent to the amenability of the group [47, §3.7].

6.3 A mean ergodic theorem.

Providing a non-linear version of the celebrated von Neumann mean ergodic theorem, J.-B. Baillon [3] proved a mean ergodic theorem for a non-expansive mapping on a Hilbert space. Generalizing Baillon's theorem, W. Takahashi [99] and G. Rodé [89] established an analogous result for a semigroup of nonexpansive mappings acting on a Hilbert space. Finally, A. T.-M. Lau, N. Shioji and W. Takahashi [72] extended these results to semigroups of non-expansive mappings acting on some Banach spaces. In this section, we shall obtain a similar mean ergodic theorem in the setting of φ -amenable Banach algebras, and in passing, we shall also prove the uniqueness of a two-sided φ -mean on the weakly almost periodic functionals.

Throughout the rest of this chapter, let A be a Banach algebra and φ be a non-zero multiplicative linear functional from A into \mathbb{C} . Set

$$S_{\varphi} := \{ u \in A \ : \ ||u|| = 1 = \varphi(u) \} \text{ and } \mathscr{M}_{\varphi} := \{ \mu \in A^{**} \ : \ ||\mu|| = 1 = \mu(\varphi) \}.$$

It follows by the Banach-Alaoglu Theorem that \mathscr{M}_{φ} is a w^* -compact convex subset of A^{**} . In the sequel, we assume that S_{φ} is w^* -dense in \mathscr{M}_{φ} . In particular, this is satisfied if A is the predual of any W^* -algebra [41, Proposition 3.] or if $A = A_p(G)$ [76, Lemma 1.1 & Remark 1.2].

Let wap(A) denote the space of all weakly almost periodic functionals on A. We recall that a continuous linear functional f on A belongs to wap(A) if and only if the map $L_f : A \to A^*, a \mapsto f \cdot a$, is weakly compact, or equivalently, if the map $R_f : A \to A^*, a \mapsto a \cdot f$, is weakly compact. For more information, see [16] and the references therein.

Let C be a non-empty A-invariant closed subset of wap(A) such that $\mathbb{C}\varphi$ is contained in C. Clearly, the action of S_{φ} on C is non-expansive, that is, $||u \cdot x - u \cdot y|| \leq ||x - y||$ for all $u \in S_{\varphi}$, $x, y \in C$.

For any $x \in wap(A)$ and $\Phi \in A^{**}$ we define a mapping $\Pi_{x,\Phi} : A \to \mathbb{C}$ as follows: for $a \in A$,

$$\Pi_{x,\Phi}(a) := \langle a \cdot x, \Phi \rangle.$$

Then $\Pi_{x,\Phi}$ is a continuous linear functional on A, *i.e.*, $\Pi_{x,\Phi} \in A^*$.

Lemma 6.3.1. For any $\mu \in \mathscr{M}_{\varphi}$ there exists a map $T_{\mu}: C \to C$ such that

$$\langle T_{\mu}x, \Phi \rangle = \langle \mu, \Pi_{x, \Phi} \rangle$$
 for all $x \in C$ and $\Phi \in A^{**}$.

Proof. Let $\mu \in \mathscr{M}_{\varphi}$, $x \in C$, $\Phi \in A^{**}$ be arbitrary. Let (u_{α}) be a net in S_{φ} such that $\mu = w^* - \lim_{\alpha} u_{\alpha}$. Then

(6.3)
$$\langle u_{\alpha} \cdot x, \Phi \rangle = \langle u_{\alpha}, \Pi_{x, \Phi} \rangle \rightarrow \langle \mu, \Pi_{x, \Phi} \rangle.$$

Let ν be a weak cluster point of $(u_{\alpha} \cdot x)$; such a point exists since the weak closure of $\{u \cdot x : u \in S_{\varphi}\}$ is weakly compact. So there is a subnet $(u_{\beta} \cdot x)$ of

 $(u_{\alpha} \cdot x)$ such that $(u_{\beta} \cdot x)$ converges weakly to ν . Observe that $\nu \in \overline{\{u_{\beta} \cdot x\}}^w \subseteq \overline{\{u \cdot x : u \in S_{\varphi}\}}^w = \overline{\{u \cdot x : u \in S_{\varphi}\}}^{||.||} \subseteq C$ by Mazur's theorem and since C is closed. Therefore,

$$\langle u_{\beta} \cdot x, \Phi \rangle = \langle u_{\beta}, \Pi_{x, \Phi} \rangle \rightarrow \langle \nu, \Phi \rangle,$$

and (6.3) implies $\langle \nu, \Phi \rangle = \langle \mu, \Pi_{x, \Phi} \rangle$. A fortiori, ν depends on μ and x, and

$$\langle u_{\alpha}, \Pi_{x, \Phi} \rangle \rightarrow \langle \nu, \Phi \rangle.$$

Thus, we may define T_{μ} by setting $T_{\mu}x := \nu$.

Remark 6.3.1. The map T_{μ} may be seen as an analogue of the Bochner integral defined in [89, II(f)].

We recall that the set of all common fixed points for the action of S_{φ} on A^* is denoted by

$$Fix(S_{\varphi}) := \{ f \in A^* : u \cdot f = f \text{ for all } u \in S_{\varphi} \}.$$

For the rest of this section, we assume that A is φ -amenable with a φ -mean of norm one, so that $Fix(S_{\varphi}) = \mathbb{C}\varphi$. See the proof of Theorem 6.2.1.

Lemma 6.3.2. Let Ψ be a φ -mean on wap(A) with $||\Psi|| = 1$.

(i) For all $x \in wap(A)$, $T_{\Psi}x = \langle \Psi, x \rangle \varphi$.

(ii) T_{Ψ} is a (linear) projection from wap(A) onto $Fix(S_{\varphi})$.

(iii) T_{Ψ} is a non-expansive retraction from C onto $Fix(S_{\varphi})$.

Proof. (i) Let $x \in wap(A)$ and let (u_{α}) be a net in S_{φ} such that $w^* - \lim_{\alpha} u_{\alpha} = \Psi$. For any $\Phi \in A^{**}$ we have

$$\langle u_{\alpha} \cdot x, \Phi \rangle = \langle u_{\alpha}, \Pi_{x, \Phi} \rangle \rightarrow \langle \Psi, \Pi_{x, \Phi} \rangle = \langle T_{\Psi} x, \Phi \rangle,$$

that is, $u_{\alpha} \cdot x \to T_{\Psi} x$ in the weak topology. In particular, for any $\phi \in A$,

$$\langle u_{\alpha} \cdot x, \phi \rangle \rightarrow \langle T_{\Psi} x, \phi \rangle.$$

$$\langle u_{\alpha} \cdot x, \phi \rangle = \langle u_{\alpha}, x \cdot \phi \rangle \rightarrow \langle \Psi, x \cdot \phi \rangle,$$

and since Ψ is a φ -mean, $\langle \Psi, x \cdot \phi \rangle = \varphi(\phi) \langle \Psi, x \rangle$. Therefore, $T_{\Psi}x = \langle \Psi, x \rangle \varphi$.

(ii) Let $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$ and $x, y \in wap(A)$. Then for any $\Phi \in A^{**}$, $\Pi_{\lambda x+y,\Phi} = \lambda \Pi_{x,\Phi} + \Pi_{y,\Phi}$. Thus, for each $\mu \in \mathscr{M}_{\varphi}$, $T_{\mu}(\lambda x+y) = \lambda T_{\mu}(x) + T_{\mu}(y)$, and $T_{\mu} : wap(A) \to wap(A)$ is linear.

It remains to show that T_{Ψ} is an idempotent. Using the fact that Ψ is a φ -mean, we have for any $x \in wap(A)$:

$$T_{\Psi}(T_{\Psi}x) = \langle \Psi, T_{\Psi}x \rangle \varphi = \langle \Psi, \langle \Psi, x \rangle \varphi \rangle \varphi$$
$$= \langle \Psi, x \rangle \langle \Psi, \varphi \rangle \varphi = \langle \Psi, x \rangle \varphi = T_{\Psi}x.$$

(iii) We first notice that $T_{\Psi} : C \to C$ is not linear since C is not a subspace. Then, similarly as in (b), it follows that T_{Ψ} is a retraction from C onto $Fix(S_{\varphi})$. Moreover, for any $x, y \in C$ we have

$$||T_{\Psi}x - T_{\Psi}y|| = |\langle \Psi, x - y \rangle| ||\varphi|| \le ||\Psi|| ||x - y|| = ||x - y||,$$

which shows that T_{Ψ} is non-expansive.

Definition 12. Let $\Psi \in A^{**}$. Then Ψ is called a *two-sided* φ -mean (on A^*) of norm one if $\Psi \in \mathscr{M}_{\varphi}$ and $\langle \Psi, f \cdot a \rangle = \varphi(a) \langle \Psi, f \rangle = \langle \Psi, a \cdot f \rangle$ for all $a \in A$, $f \in A^*$. Obviously, if A is commutative, any φ -mean is automatically twosided.

The next lemma is an analogue of [60, Lemma 2.].

Lemma 6.3.3. Let Ψ be a two-sided φ -mean on wap(A) with $||\Psi|| = 1$. (i) For any $u \in S_{\varphi}$, $x \in wap(A)$, we have:

$$T_{\Psi}(x \cdot u) = (T_{\Psi}x) \cdot u = u \cdot T_{\Psi}x = T_{\Psi}(u \cdot x) = T_{\Psi}x.$$

(ii) For any $\mu \in \mathscr{M}_{\varphi}$, $x \in wap(A)$, we have:

$$T_{\Psi}T_{\mu}x = T_{\mu}T_{\Psi}x = T_{\Psi}x$$

But

Proof. (i) Let $u \in S_{\varphi}$ and $x \in wap(A)$. By Lemma 6.3.2, and since Ψ is a two-sided φ -mean, we have:

$$T_{\Psi}(x \cdot u) = \langle \Psi, x \cdot u \rangle \varphi = \varphi(u) \langle \Psi, x \rangle \varphi = T_{\Psi} x$$
$$= \langle \Psi, u \cdot x \rangle \varphi = T_{\Psi}(u \cdot x).$$

Also, by multiplicativity of φ ,

$$(T_{\Psi}x) \cdot u = \langle \Psi, x \rangle \varphi \cdot u = \varphi(u) \langle \Psi, x \rangle \varphi = T_{\Psi}x.$$

Similarly for $u \cdot (T_{\Psi} x)$.

(ii) Let $\mu \in \mathscr{M}_{\varphi}$ and $x \in \operatorname{wap}(A)$. For any $\Phi \in A^{**}$ and $a \in A$ we have:

(6.4)
$$\Pi_{T_{\Psi}x,\Phi}(a) = \langle a \cdot T_{\Psi}x, \Phi \rangle = \varphi(a) \langle T_{\Psi}x, \Phi \rangle;$$

and since Ψ is a two-sided φ -mean,

(6.5)
$$\Pi_{x,\Psi}(a) = \langle a \cdot x, \Psi \rangle = \varphi(a) \langle \Psi, x \rangle = \langle T_{\Psi} x, a \rangle.$$

By (6.4),

$$\langle T_{\mu}T_{\Psi}x,\Phi\rangle = \langle \mu,\Pi_{T_{\Psi}x,\Phi}\rangle = \langle T_{\Psi}x,\Phi\rangle\,\mu(\varphi) = \langle T_{\Psi}x,\Phi\rangle;$$

and by (6.5), Lemma 6.3.1, Lemma 6.3.2 and the Goldstine Theorem,

Remark 6.3.2. We recall that a closed subspace X of A^* is topologically left invariant if $x \cdot a \in X$ for all $a \in A$, $x \in X$. Then we observe that in the above two lemmas, we may replace wap(A) by any topologically left invariant subspace X of wap(A) containing φ . We will show in Section 6.5 that Lemma 6.3.2 and Lemma 6.3.3.(i) actually characterize the existence of a φ -mean of norm one. Now, as a consequence of Lemma 6.3.2.(i) and Lemma 6.3.3.(ii), we obtain the uniqueness of a two-sided φ -mean on wap(A) of norm one.

Lemma 6.3.4. Let Ψ_1 , Ψ_2 be two two-sided φ -mean on wap(A) with $||\Psi_1|| = ||\Psi_2|| = 1$. Then $T_{\Psi_1} = T_{\Psi_2}$.

Proposition 6.3.5. Let A be a Banach algebra, and suppose that A admits a two-sided φ -mean Ψ of norm one. Then the restriction of Ψ to wap(A) is unique.

Definition 13. Let (μ_{α}) be a net in \mathscr{M}_{φ} . We say that (μ_{α}) is *left ergodic* if $w^* - \lim_{\alpha} (a \cdot \mu_{\alpha} - \varphi(a)\mu_{\alpha}) = 0$ for all $a \in A$. We say that (μ_{α}) is *ergodic* if

$$w^* - \lim_{\alpha} (a \cdot \mu_{\alpha} - \varphi(a)\mu_{\alpha}) = w^* - \lim_{\alpha} (\mu_{\alpha} \cdot a - \varphi(a)\mu_{\alpha}) = 0, \text{ for all } a \in A.$$

Remark 6.3.3. It follows from [58, Theorem 1.4] that A is φ -amenable with a φ -mean of norm one if and only if there exists a left ergodic net in \mathcal{M}_{φ} . Similarly, A admits a two-sided φ -mean of norm one if and only if there exists an ergodic net in \mathcal{M}_{φ} .

Theorem 6.3.6. Let X be a topologically left invariant subspace of wap(A) containing φ , and let (μ_{α}) be a net in \mathscr{M}_{φ} . If (μ_{α}) is left ergodic, then there exists a subnet (μ_{β}) of (μ_{α}) such that $T_{\mu_{\beta}}$ converges in the weak operator topology to a linear projection from X onto $Fix(S_{\varphi})$.

Proof. Let Ψ be a weak^{*} cluster point of (μ_{α}) , and let (μ_{β}) be a subnet of (μ_{α}) such that $\mu_{\beta} \xrightarrow{w^*} \Psi$; such Ψ exists since \mathscr{M}_{φ} is w^* -compact. By assumption, $\langle a \cdot \mu_{\alpha} - \varphi(a)\mu_{\alpha}, f \rangle \to 0$ for all $a \in A, f \in A^*$. So in particular,

$$\langle \mu_{\beta}, f \cdot a - \varphi(a) f \rangle \to 0$$
 for all $a \in A, f \in A^*$.

Then, $\langle \Psi, f \cdot a - \varphi(a) f \rangle = 0$ for all $a \in A, f \in A^*$, so Ψ is a φ -mean. Moreover, $\Psi \in \overline{\{\mu_\beta\}}^{w^*} \subseteq \overline{\mathscr{M}_{\varphi}}^{w^*} = \mathscr{M}_{\varphi}$ since \mathscr{M}_{φ} is w^* -closed. Hence Ψ is a φ -mean of norm one. Finally, by Lemma 6.3.2.(ii) and Remark 6.3.2, T_{Ψ} is a projection onto $Fix(S_{\varphi})$, and by Lemma 6.3.1 we have, for any $x \in X$ and any $\Phi \in A^{**}$,

$$\langle T_{\mu_{\beta}}x, \Phi \rangle = \langle \mu_{\beta}, \Pi_{x, \Phi} \rangle \rightarrow \langle \Psi, \Pi_{x, \Phi} \rangle = \langle T_{\Psi}x, \Phi \rangle,$$

that is, $T_{\mu_{\beta}} \to T_{\Psi}$ in the weak operator topology.

The next corollary follows from Lemma 6.3.1, Lemma 6.3.2.(iii), Proposition 6.3.5, and from the proof of Theorem 6.3.6.

Corollary 6.3.7. Let C be a non-empty closed A-invariant subset of wap(A) such that $\mathbb{C}\varphi \subseteq C$. Suppose that A admits a two-sided φ -mean of norm one. Then there exists a unique non-expansive retraction P from C onto $Fix(S_{\varphi})$ such that $PT_{\mu} = T_{\mu}P = P$ for each $\mu \in \mathscr{M}_{\varphi}$, and $Px \in \overline{\{u \cdot x : u \in S_{\varphi}\}}$ for each $x \in C$.

Moreover, if (μ_{α}) is an ergodic net in \mathscr{M}_{φ} , then there exists a subnet (μ_{β}) of (μ_{α}) such that $T_{\mu_{\beta}}$ converges to P in the weak operator topology.

- Remark 6.3.4. (a) Theorem 6.3.6 and Corollary 6.3.7 may be compared with [72, Theorem 1. and Theorem 2.], [60, Theorem 1.], [89, Theorem], [99, Theorem 1.], and [27, Theorem 4.1].
- (b) In Corollary 6.3.7, if C is convex, then the retraction P is an affine map, and if C is a linear space, then P is a linear projection.
- (c) Let C be a non-empty closed A-invariant subset of wap(A) such that $\mathbb{C}\varphi \subseteq C$. Then for every $x \in C$ we have $\overline{\{u \cdot x : u \in S_{\varphi}\}} \cap Fix(S_{\varphi}) \neq \emptyset$ by Lemma 6.3.1 and Lemma 6.3.2. Furthermore, a two-sided φ -mean Ψ on wap(A) with $||\Psi|| = 1$ is unique by Proposition 6.3.5. In this case,

$$\overline{\{u \cdot x \, : \, u \in S_{\varphi}\}} \cap Fix(S_{\varphi}) = \{\langle \Psi, x \rangle \, \varphi\}.$$

Indeed, if $\nu \in \overline{\{u \cdot x : u \in S_{\varphi}\}} \cap Fix(S_{\varphi})$, then $\nu = \lambda \varphi$ for some $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$ since S_{φ} acts ergodically on A^* , and there is a net (u_{α}) in S_{φ} such that $u_{\alpha} \cdot x \to \nu$ in norm, hence weakly. Now let $\mu \in \mathscr{M}_{\varphi}$ be a weak^{*} cluster point of (u_{α}) , and let (u_{β}) be a subnet of (u_{α}) such that $u_{\beta} \xrightarrow{w^*} \mu$. Thus, from the proof of Lemma 6.3.1 we deduce that $\nu = T_{\mu}x$, hence $T_{\mu}x = \lambda\varphi$. So we have:

$$\lambda \ = \ \langle \Psi, \lambda \varphi \rangle \ = \ \langle \Psi, T_{\mu} x \rangle \ = \ \langle \mu, \Pi_{x, \Psi} \rangle \ = \ \langle \mu, \langle \Psi, x \rangle \varphi \rangle \ = \ \langle \Psi, x \rangle$$

since $\langle \Pi_{x,\Psi}, a \rangle = \langle a \cdot x, \Psi \rangle = \varphi(a) \langle \Psi, x \rangle$ for all $a \in A$. Compare with [27, Theorem 5.3] and [60, Lemma 4.].

Examples. 1. Let G be an amenable locally compact group, $A = L^1(G)$ and $\varphi = \delta_e \in L^{\infty}(G)$, the evaluation functional at e. In this case, the φ -means of norm one are nothing but the topologically invariant means on $L^{\infty}(G) = A^*$. Therefore Proposition 6.3.5 provides a different proof, in the amenable case, of a famous result due to C. Ryll-Nardzewski [95, Theorem 4.(3)], which asserts the uniqueness of a topologically invariant mean on the space WAP(G) of all weakly almost periodic functions on G. We recall that wap($L^1(G)$) = WAP(G) by [102, Theorem 4.]. Note that Ryll-Nardzewski's result is true for any locally compact group.

- 2. Let G be a locally compact group, $A = A_p(G)$ and $\varphi = \lambda_p(e)$. Here again, the φ -means of norm one are nothing but the topologically invariant means on $PM_p(G) = A^*$. Then, Proposition 6.3.5 yields the uniqueness of a topologically invariant mean on $WAP_p(G)$, a result that was first established in [43, Proposition 9.]. Also, we obtain the existence of a projection P from WAP_p(G) onto $Fix(S^{p}_{A})$; this may have been deduced from [42, Theorem 6.] but we here obtain a precise definition of P (Lemma 6.3.2.(i)). Furthermore, with the terminology of [73] and by Remark 6.3.4.(c), if (u_{α}) is an ergodic net in S_A^p , the conclusion of Corollary 6.3.7 is equivalent to saying that the representation of S^p_A on $WAP_p(G)$, given by the usual module action, is averageable. Thus, for $X = WAP_{p}(G)$, Corollary 6.3.7 may be regarded as an analogue of a theorem due to C. Ryll-Nardzewski [94], who established the averageability of the representation given by left translation on the weakly almost periodic functions on a locally compact group. For $X = AP_p(G)$, Corollary 6.3.7 may be seen as an analogue of a theorem of J. von Neumann [104].
- 3. Let A be an F-algebra as introduced in [67] (see Remark 6.2.4). If there is a topologically (two-sided) invariant mean on A^* , which is the case if A is commutative, then a topologically invariant mean on wap(A) is unique by Proposition 6.3.5. In particular, this applies when A is the measure algebra of a locally compact commutative semigroup, and when A is the measure algebra of an amenable locally compact group. In this case, these results are new.

6.4 Decomposition of subspaces of wap(A).

Let X be a topologically invariant subspace of wap(A) containing φ . Assume that A admits a two-sided φ -mean of norm one, which we denote by Ψ . Then Lemma 6.3.3 and the second statement of Corollary 6.3.7 assert that T_{Ψ} is the zero of the semigroup $\overline{\{T_u : u \in S_{\varphi}\}}^{wot}$, where $T_u x := u \cdot x, x \in X$. Moreover, for each $x \in X$, the closure of $\{u \cdot x : u \in S_{\varphi}\}$ contains a unique common fixed point for S_{φ} by Remark 6.3.4.(c). Thus, an application of [6, Theorem 3.6, Chapter 6.] yields the following decomposition of X:

Theorem 6.4.1. The following statements hold:

(i)

$$X_f := \{ x \in X : u \cdot x = x \text{ for all } u \in S_{\varphi} \}$$
$$= \{ T_{\Psi}x : x \in X \} = \{ \langle \Psi, x \rangle \varphi : x \in X \} = \mathbb{C} \varphi$$

(ii)

$$X_d := \overline{\operatorname{span}} \{ u \cdot x - x : u \in S_{\varphi}, x \in X \}$$

= $\{ x \in X : 0 \in \overline{\{ u \cdot x : u \in S_{\varphi} \}} \} = \{ x \in X : \langle \Psi, x \rangle = 0 \}$

(iii)

$$X = X_f \oplus X_d.$$

Remark 6.4.1. Let G be a locally compact group and let $x \in G$. The set of topologically invariant x-means on $\mathrm{PM}_{\mathrm{p}}(G)$ is denoted by $\mathrm{TIM}_{\mathrm{p}}(x)$. Recall that $\Psi \in \mathrm{TIM}_{\mathrm{p}}(x)$ if and only if $\Psi \in \mathrm{PM}_{\mathrm{p}}(G)^*$, $||\Psi|| = 1 = \langle \Psi, \lambda_p(x) \rangle$, and $\langle \Psi, T \cdot u \rangle = u(x) \langle \Psi, T \rangle$ for all $u \in \mathrm{A}_{\mathrm{p}}(G)$, $T \in \mathrm{PM}_{\mathrm{p}}(G)$. In particular, $\mathrm{TIM}_{\mathrm{p}}(e) = \mathrm{TIM}_{\mathrm{p}}(\widehat{G})$ is the set of all topologically invariant means on $\mathrm{PM}_{\mathrm{p}}(G)$. Furthermore, for all $x \in G$, the following can easily be proved ([51, p. 216], [24, Proposition 5.2]):

$$\mathrm{TIM}_{\mathrm{p}}(x) = \{ {}_{x}m : m \in \mathrm{TIM}_{\mathrm{p}}(\widehat{G}) \},\$$

where $\langle {}_{x}m,T\rangle = \langle m, {}_{x^{-1}}T\rangle$, $\langle {}_{x}T,u\rangle = \langle T, {}_{x}u\rangle$, and ${}_{x}u$ is the left translate of u by x, for $u \in A_{p}(G)$, $T \in PM_{p}(G)$. In particular, for any $x \in G$ there exists

a unique topologically invariant x-mean on $WAP_p(G)$ by Proposition 6.3.5.

Corollary 6.4.2. Let G be a locally compact group, $x \in G$, X be a topologically invariant subspace of WAP_p(G) such that $\lambda_p(x) \in X$, and Ψ_x be the unique topologically invariant x-mean on WAP_p(G). Then

$$X = \mathbb{C}\lambda_p(x) \oplus \{T \in X : \Psi_x(T) = 0\}.$$

In particular, $\langle \Psi_x, \lambda_p(z) \rangle = 0$ for every $z \in G, z \neq x$, and

$$WAP_{p}(G) = \mathbb{C}\lambda_{p}(x) \oplus \{T \in WAP_{p}(G) : \Psi_{x}(T) = 0\}$$
$$= AP_{p}(G) + \{T \in WAP_{p}(G) : \Psi_{x}(T) = 0\}.$$

The third statement of Theorem 6.4.1 may be compared with [101, Theorem 2.11.(iii), p.23] whereas the second statement of Corollary 6.4.2 may be compared with [43, Proposition 10.], [51, Lemma 3.14.(a)], and Lemma 4.1.1 of the present thesis.

6.5 Fixed point characterizations.

Let X be a topologically left invariant subspace of A^* with $\varphi \in X$, and such that

(6.6) for each
$$x \in X$$
, $\overline{\{u \cdot x : u \in S_{\varphi}\}}^{w^*} \subset X$.

Let $\mathscr{B}(X)$ denote the space of bounded linear operators from X into itself. For any $x \in X$, $a \in A$, if $\prod_{x,a}(T) := \langle Tx, a \rangle$ for $T \in \mathscr{B}(X)$, then $\prod_{x,a}$ defines a seminorm on $\mathscr{B}(X)$, and the locally convex topology generated by the family $\{\prod_{x,a} : x \in X, a \in A\}$ is called the *weak*^{*} operator topology, abbreviated w^*ot . In particular, if we regard S_{φ} as a semigroup of bounded linear operators on X - via the usual module action of A on A^* - then $\overline{S_{\varphi}}^{w^*ot}$ is w^*ot -compact since so is the closed unit ball of $\mathscr{B}(X)$. See [93].

Remark 6.5.1. We recall that a topologically left invariant subspace X of A^* is topologically left introverted if $m_L(x) \in X$ for any $x \in X$, where $\langle m_L(x), a \rangle = \langle m, x \cdot a \rangle$ for $a \in A$, $x \in X$, $m \in X^*$. Then, by [71, Lemma 1.2], any topologically left introverted subspace of A^* satisfies condition (6.6) above. In particular, this is the case if $X = \overline{A \cdot A^*}$, X = wap(A), or if X is any norm closed topologically left invariant subspace of wap(A).

Lemma 6.5.1. For every $x \in X$, $\overline{S_{\varphi}x}^{w^*}$ is w^* -compact, and

$$\overline{S_{\varphi}x}^{w^*} = \overline{S_{\varphi}}^{w^*ot}x.$$

Proof. Let $x \in X$ be fixed. Observe that the map $\phi_x : \mathscr{B}(X) \to X$, defined by $\phi_x(T) := Tx$, is $w^*ot \cdot w^*$ continuous. Then, since $\overline{S_{\varphi}}^{w^*ot}$ is w^* compact, $\overline{S_{\varphi}}^{w^*ot}x$ is w^* -compact as the continuous image of a compact set. Now let $a \in \overline{S_{\varphi}x}^{w^*}$. Then there is a net (u_{α}) in S_{φ} such that $u_{\alpha} \cdot x \xrightarrow{w^*} a$. Let ν be a w*ot cluster point of (u_{α}) and let (u_{β}) be a subnet of (u_{α}) such that (u_{β}) converges to ν in the weak* operator topology, *i.e.*, $\Pi_{T,b}(u_{\beta}) \to \Pi_{T,b}(\nu)$ for all $T \in A^*, b \in A$. In particular, $\langle u_{\beta} \cdot x, b \rangle \to \langle \nu x, b \rangle$ for all $b \in A$. Hence $a = \nu x$, and $a \in \overline{S_{\varphi}}^{w^*ot}x$. It also follows that $\overline{S_{\varphi}x}^{w^*}$ is w^* -compact. On the other hand, if $a \in \overline{S_{\varphi}}^{w^*ot}x$, there is $U \in \overline{S_{\varphi}}^{w^*ot}$ such that a = Ux, and there is a net (u_{α}) in S_{φ} such that $u_{\alpha} \xrightarrow{w^*ot} U$. In particular, $\langle u_{\alpha} \cdot x, b \rangle \to$ $\langle Ux, b \rangle = \langle a, b \rangle$ for all $b \in A$, that is, $u_{\alpha} \cdot x \xrightarrow{w^*} a$. Hence $a \in \overline{S_{\varphi}x}^{w^*}$.

Imitating the proof of Lemma 6.3.1 and Lemma 6.3.2, the next lemma is easily verified.

Lemma 6.5.2. For any $\mu \in \mathscr{M}_{\varphi}$ there exists a map $T_{\mu} \in \mathscr{B}(X)$ such that

$$\langle T_{\mu}x,a\rangle = \langle \mu,\Pi_{x,a}\rangle = \langle \mu,a\cdot x\rangle$$
 for all $x \in X$ and $a \in A$,

and $T_{\mu}x \in \overline{S_{\varphi}x}^{w^*}$. Moreover, $T_{\Psi}x = \langle \Psi, x \rangle \varphi$ for all $x \in X$, if Ψ is a φ -mean on A^* of norm one.

Theorem 6.5.3. Let X be a topologically left invariant subspace of A^* with $\varphi \in X$, and such that condition (6.6) is satisfied. Assume that S_{φ} is left amenable as a semitopological semigroup and $\overline{\text{span}} S_{\varphi} = A$. Then the following assertions are equivalent:

- (i) A is φ -amenable with a φ -mean of norm one.
- (ii) There exists a φ -mean of norm one on X.

(iii) For any topologically left invariant subspace $Y \subseteq A^*$ with $\varphi \in Y$ and such that (6.6) is satisfied, there exists $P \in \overline{S_{\varphi}}^{w^*ot}$ such that $P(y \cdot a) =$ $(Py) \cdot a = \varphi(a)Py$ for all $a \in A, y \in Y$, where w^*ot designates the weak^{*} operator topology on $\mathscr{B}(Y)$.

Proof. (i) \Rightarrow (iii): Let $\Psi \in A^{**}$ be a φ -mean of norm one. Then $P := T_{\Psi} \in \overline{S_{\varphi}}^{w^*ot}$ by Lemma 6.5.2 and Lemma 6.5.1, and the remaining assertion follows from Lemma 6.3.3.

(iii) \Rightarrow (ii): Let $P \in \overline{S_{\varphi}}^{w^*ot}$ such that $P(x \cdot a) = (Px) \cdot a = \varphi(a)Px$ for all $a \in A, x \in X$. By Lemma 6.5.1, $\overline{S_{\varphi}}^{w^*ot}x = \overline{S_{\varphi}x}^{w^*}$ for all $x \in X$. So for every $x \in X$, there exists a net (u_{α}) in S_{φ} such that $u_{\alpha} \cdot x \xrightarrow{w^*} Px$. Let $\mu \in \mathscr{M}_{\varphi}$ be a weak* cluster point of (u_{α}) and let (u_{β}) be a subnet of (u_{α}) such that $u_{\beta} \xrightarrow{w^*} \mu$. In particular, $\langle u_{\beta}, x \rangle \to \langle \mu, x \rangle$ for all $x \in X$. Then, for every $a \in A$ we have:

$$\langle u_{\beta} \cdot x, a \rangle \to \langle Px, a \rangle$$

= $\langle u_{\beta}, x \cdot a \rangle \to \langle \mu, x \cdot a \rangle = \langle \mu \cdot x, a \rangle,$

hence $Px = \mu \cdot x$ for all $x \in X$. By assumption, $\mu \cdot (x \cdot a) = (\mu \cdot x) \cdot a = \varphi(a) \mu \cdot x$ for all $x \in X$, $a \in A$. Therefore, for every $u \in S_{\varphi}$, $u \cdot \mu$ is a φ -mean on X of norm one. Indeed,

$$\begin{aligned} \langle u \cdot \mu, x \cdot a \rangle &= \langle \mu, x \cdot a \cdot u \rangle = \langle \mu \cdot x, au \rangle = \langle \mu \cdot x \cdot a, u \rangle \\ &= \varphi(a) \langle \mu \cdot x, u \rangle = \varphi(a) \langle u \cdot \mu, x \rangle, \quad \text{ for all } x \in X, a \in A. \end{aligned}$$

(ii) \Rightarrow (i): Let Ψ be a φ -mean on X with $||\Psi|| = 1$. By the Hahn-Banach Theorem, there exists an extension $\Psi_1 \in A^{**}$ of Ψ which preserves the norm. Furthermore, since $\varphi \in X$, $\Psi_1(\varphi) = \Psi(\varphi) = 1$, hence $\Psi_1 \in \mathscr{M}_{\varphi}$. Now let $M \in \ell^{\infty}(S_{\varphi})^*$ be a translation invariant mean and define $\Psi_0 \in A^{**}$ by $\langle \Psi_0, f \rangle =$ $M(\Pi_{f,\Psi_1})$, where $\Pi_{f,\Psi_1} \in \ell^{\infty}(S_{\varphi})$ is given by $\Pi_{f,\Psi_1}(u) = \langle \Psi_1, f \cdot u \rangle$ for $u \in S_{\varphi}$. Then it is straightforward to see that $\Psi_0 \in \mathscr{M}_{\varphi}$, and for all $f \in A^*$, $u \in S_{\varphi}$, we have

$$\langle \Psi_0, f \cdot u \rangle = M(\Pi_{f \cdot u, \Psi_1}) = M(\ell_u \Pi_{f, \Psi_1}) = M(\Pi_{f, \Psi_1}) = \langle \Psi_0, f \rangle.$$

Therefore, since $\overline{\operatorname{span}} S_{\varphi} = A$, we conclude that Ψ_0 is a φ -mean on A^* which is of norm one.

- Remark 6.5.2. 1. The equivalence (i) \Leftrightarrow (iii) holds even without the assumption that S_{φ} is left amenable and that $\overline{\text{span}} S_{\varphi} = A$.
 - 2. For left amenable *F*-algebras, a fixed point characterization of a similar nature can be found in [82].

Corollary 6.5.4. Let G be a locally compact group. For any topologically invariant topologically introverted subspace X of $PM_p(G)$ containing $\lambda_p(e)$, there exists $P \in \overline{S}_A^{pw^*ot}$ such that $P(x \cdot u) = (Px) \cdot u = u(e)Px$ for all $u \in A_p(G)$, $x \in X$.

Next, by means of Lemma 6.5.2 and [64, Theorem 2.1], we are able to obtain an analogue of a famous fixed point theorem due to T. Mitchell [79, Theorem 3.]. It may also be compared with the main theorem in [46] and with [106, Theorem 5.4].

Theorem 6.5.5. Let X be a topologically left invariant subspace of A^* with $\varphi \in X$, and such that condition (6.6) is satisfied. The following assertions are equivalent:

- (i) There exists a φ -mean Ψ on X with $||\Psi|| = 1$.
- (ii) For each $x \in X$, there exists $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$ such that $\lambda \varphi \in \overline{\{u \cdot x : u \in S_{\varphi}\}}^{w^*}$.

Proof. The implication (i) \Rightarrow (ii) is a direct consequence of Lemma 6.5.2. For the reverse implication, let $X = A^*$ and set $F := \mathbb{C}\varphi$. By [64, Theorem 2.1], there exists an F-stationary operator P on A^* and $P \in \overline{S_{\varphi}}^{w^*ot}$. Let (u_{α}) in S_{φ} such that $u_{\alpha} \xrightarrow{w^*ot} P$, that is $\langle u_{\alpha} \cdot f, a \rangle \rightarrow \langle Pf, a \rangle$ for all $f \in A^*$, $a \in A$. Now, for a fixed $u_0 \in S_{\varphi}$, we define $\Psi(f) := \langle Pf, u_0 \rangle$ for $f \in A^*$. It is then straightforward to verify that $||\Psi|| = 1$. For any $f \in A^*$, we denote by λ_f the complex number that satisfies $Pf = \lambda_f \varphi$; such λ_f exists by the definition of stationarity [64]. So for any $f \in A^*$, $a \in A$, we have:

$$\langle u_{\alpha} \cdot (f \cdot a), u_{0} \rangle = \langle u_{\alpha} \cdot f, au_{0} \rangle \rightarrow \langle Pf, au_{0} \rangle = \langle \lambda_{f} \varphi, au_{0} \rangle$$
$$= \varphi(a)\lambda_{f} = \varphi(a)\langle Pf, u_{0} \rangle = \varphi(a)\Psi(f)$$

and

$$\langle u_{\alpha} \cdot (f \cdot a), u_0 \rangle \rightarrow \langle P(f \cdot a), u_0 \rangle = \lambda_{f \cdot a}$$

= $\Psi(f \cdot a).$

Therefore, $\Psi(f \cdot a) = \lambda_{f \cdot a} = \varphi(a)\lambda_f = \varphi(a)\Psi(f)$, which shows that Ψ is a φ -mean on A^* . By restriction, Ψ is also a φ -mean on X, and this completes the proof.

We conclude this section with one last fixed point characterization of φ amenability. First, analogously to [25, Lemma 7.1], we need the following lemma:

Lemma 6.5.6. Let X be a topologically left invariant subspace of A^* with $\varphi \in X$. The following assertions are equivalent:

- (i) There exists $\Psi \in X^*$ such that $||\Psi|| = 1 = \Psi(\varphi)$ and $\langle \Psi, x \cdot u \rangle = \langle \Psi, x \rangle$ for all $x \in X$, $u \in S_{\varphi}$.
- (ii) There exists a net (u_{α}) in S_{φ} such that, for each $u \in S_{\varphi}$, $uu_{\alpha} u_{\alpha} \to 0$ in the weak topology $\sigma(A, X)$.

Proof. Assume that there exists $\Psi \in X^*$ as in (i). By the Hahn-Banach Theorem, Ψ has a norm-preserving extension to A^{**} , which we also denote by Ψ . Let (u_{α}) be a net in S_{φ} such that $u_{\alpha} \xrightarrow{w^*} \Psi$. Then, for any $x \in X$, $u \in S_{\varphi}$, we have:

$$\langle uu_{\alpha} - u_{\alpha}, x \rangle = \langle u_{\alpha}, x \cdot u - u \rangle \rightarrow \langle \Psi, x \cdot u - x \rangle = 0.$$

Conversely, assume that there exists a net (u_{α}) as in (ii), and let $\mu \in \mathscr{M}_{\varphi}$ be a weak^{*} cluster point of (u_{α}) . Denote the restriction of μ to X by Ψ . Then, for any $x \in X$, $u \in S_{\varphi}$, we have:

$$\langle \Psi, x \cdot u \rangle - \langle \Psi, x \rangle = \lim_{\alpha} \langle u_{\alpha}, x \cdot u \rangle - \lim_{\alpha} \langle u_{\alpha}, x \rangle = \lim_{\alpha} \langle u u_{\alpha} - u_{\alpha}, x \rangle = 0.$$

Theorem 6.5.7. Let X be a topologically left introverted subspace of A^* with $\varphi \in X$. Assume that S_{φ} is left amenable as a semitopological semigroup and that $\overline{\text{span}} S_{\varphi} = A$. Then the following assertions are equivalent:

- (i) A is φ -amenable with a φ -mean of norm one.
- (ii) There exists a φ -mean on X of norm one.

(iii) Whenever S_{φ} acts on a compact convex subset K of a separated locally convex space E, and the action is linear and $\sigma(A, X)$ -separately continuous, then K contains a common fixed point for S_{φ} .

Proof. The implications (i) \Rightarrow (ii) is trivial.

(ii) \Rightarrow (iii): Let *E* and *K* as in the hypotheses of (iii), let \mathscr{Q} be a family of continuous seminorms on *E* which determines the topology of *E*, and let $s \in K$ be fixed. By Lemma 6.5.6, there exists (u_{α}) in S_{φ} such that $uu_{\alpha} - u_{\alpha} \xrightarrow{\sigma(A,X)} 0$ for each $u \in S_{\varphi}$. Since *K* is S_{φ} -invariant, $u_{\alpha} \cdot s \in K$, and by compactness of *K*, we may assume, after passing to a subnet if necessary, that $u_{\alpha} \cdot s$ converges to some $s_0 \in K$, *i.e.*, $\rho(u_{\alpha} \cdot s - s_0) \rightarrow 0$ for all $\rho \in \mathscr{Q}$. Therefore, for any $u \in S_{\varphi}$, $\rho \in \mathscr{Q}$, we have:

$$\rho(u \cdot s_0 - s_0) \leq \rho(u \cdot (s_0 - u_\alpha \cdot s)) + \rho((uu_\alpha - u_\alpha) \cdot s) + \rho(u_\alpha \cdot s - s_0) \rightarrow 0,$$

hence $u \cdot s_0 = s_0$ for all $u \in S_{\varphi}$.

(iii) \Rightarrow (ii): Let $E = X^*$ endowed with the weak^{*} topology. Then the action of A on E, given by the usual module action, is obviously linear. Moreover, if $a_{\alpha} \xrightarrow{\sigma(A,X)} a$ in $A, m \in E$ and $x \in X$, then

$$\begin{aligned} |\langle a_{\alpha} \cdot m, x \rangle - \langle a \cdot m, x \rangle| &= |\langle m, x \cdot (a_{\alpha} - a) \rangle| \\ &= |\langle m_L(x), a_{\alpha} - a \rangle| \to 0 \end{aligned}$$

since X is topologically left introverted. Also, if $m_{\beta} \xrightarrow{w^*} m$ in $E, a \in A$ and $x \in X$, then

$$\begin{aligned} |\langle a \cdot m_{\beta}, x \rangle - \langle a \cdot m, x \rangle| &= |\langle m_{\beta}, x \cdot a \rangle - \langle m, x \cdot a \rangle| \\ &= |\langle m_{\beta} - m, x \cdot a \rangle| \to 0. \end{aligned}$$

Therefore, the action of A on E is $\sigma(A, X)$ -separately continuous.

Now set $K := \{\mu \in X^* : ||\mu|| = 1 = \mu(\varphi)\}$. Then K is a compact convex subset in E and, by assumption, contains a common fixed point for S_{φ} , say Ψ . Thus, $\langle \Psi, x \cdot u \rangle = \langle u \cdot \Psi, x \rangle = \langle \Psi, x \rangle$ for all $x \in X$, $u \in S_{\varphi}$, hence Ψ is a φ -mean on X, of norm one, as $\overline{\text{span}} S_{\varphi} = A$.

The proof of (ii) \Rightarrow (i) is similar to that of (ii) \Rightarrow (i) in Theorem 6.5.3.

Remark 6.5.3. The equivalence (i) \Leftrightarrow (iii) was obtained in [107] for $A = L^1(G)$ and in [25] for *F*-algebras.

Corollary 6.5.8. Let G be a locally compact group. For any topologically introverted subspace X of $PM_p(G)$ containing $\lambda_p(e)$, if S^p_A acts on a compact convex subset K of a separated locally convex space E such that the action is linear and $\sigma(A, X)$ -separately continuous, then K contains a common fixed point for S^p_A .
Chapter 7

Spectrums in $PM_p(G)$ and discreteness of G.

Definition 14. Let A be a commutative Banach algebra. For $f \in A^*$ we define

$$\sigma(f) := \overline{\{a \cdot f : a \in A\}}^{||\cdot||} \cap \triangle(A), \quad \text{the norm spectrum of } f;$$

$$\sigma_*(f) := \overline{\{a \cdot f : a \in A\}}^{w^*} \cap \triangle(A), \quad \text{the weak}^* \text{ spectrum of } f,$$

where $\triangle(A)$ denotes the Gelfand spectrum of A.

The norm spectrum has been studied in [51] and [103], and recently in [80]. The weak* spectrum is partly studied in [56] and is denominated as the *support* in that paper. In particular, it is proved in [56, Lemma 3.1.(i)] that if A is regular, Tauberian and semisimple, then $\sigma_*(f) \neq \emptyset$ for all $f \in A^*$, $f \neq 0$. See also [49, §40] and [59, chap. VI, §6] for the case when $A = L^1(G)$ of a locally compact Abelian group. However, the norm spectrum $\sigma(f)$ may well be empty even if f is a non-zero function in $L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R})$, as is the case if $f \in C_0(\mathbb{R})$. But it is known that $\sigma(f) \neq \emptyset$ for every almost periodic function f on \mathbb{R} [59, chap. VI, §5], and also for every almost periodic function on any locally compact Abelian group [5, Theorem 2.2.3, p. 110]. For the case when $A = A_p(G)$, Z. Hu [51] showed that $\sigma(T) \neq \emptyset$ for all $T \in C_{\delta,p}(G)$, $T \neq 0$, whenever G is discrete or amenable as discrete.

In this chapter, we consider analogues of the aforementioned results, and using the decomposition of $\operatorname{WAP}_p(G)$ (Section 6.4) we obtain, in case G is a discrete group, a criterion for the non-emptiness of the spectrum of non-zero elements in $\operatorname{WAP}_p(G)$ in terms of topologically invariant means on $\operatorname{PM}_p(G)$. As a consequence, we show that the norm and weak^{*} spectrum coincide for nonzero weakly almost periodic functionals, and this, in turn, characterize the discreteness of G.

Throughout this section, let G be a discrete group, and for any $x \in G$, let Ψ_x be the unique topologically invariant x-mean on $\mathrm{PM}_p(G)$, that is, $\Psi_x \in \{\Psi \in \mathrm{PM}_p(G)^* : ||\Psi|| = 1 = \langle \Psi, \lambda_p(x) \rangle\}$ and $\langle \Psi_x, u \cdot T \rangle = u(x) \langle \Psi_x, T \rangle$ for all $u \in \mathrm{A}_p(G), T \in \mathrm{PM}_p(G)$. Since G is discrete, $\Psi_x(T) = \langle T, \delta_x \rangle$ for all $T \in \mathrm{PM}_p(G)$, where $\delta_x \in \mathrm{A}_p(G)$ is the point mass at x (see [88, Theorem 1.] for the case p = 2; the proof is similar for the general case).

The next theorem may be compared with [51, Lemma 3.14.(a)].

Theorem 7.1. Let G be a discrete group, and $x \in G$ be arbitrary. The following assertions hold:

- (a) For any $T \in PM_p(G)$, $T \neq 0$, $x \in \sigma_*(T)$ if and only if $\langle \Psi_x, T \rangle \neq 0$.
- (b) For any $T \in WAP_p(G)$, $T \neq 0$, $x \in \sigma(T)$ if and only if $\langle \Psi_x, T \rangle \neq 0$ if and only if $T = c\lambda_p(x) + T_0$ for some $c \in \mathbb{C}$, $c \neq 0$, and $T_0 \in \{S \in WAP_p(G) : \Psi_x(S) = 0\}$.
- (c) For any $T \in AP_p(G)$, $T \neq 0$, $x \in \sigma(T)$ if and only if $\langle \Psi_x, T \rangle \neq 0$ if and only if $T = c\lambda_p(x) + T_0$ for some $c \in \mathbb{C}$, $c \neq 0$, and $T_0 \in \{S \in AP_p(G) : \Psi_x(S) = 0\}$.
- **Proof.** (a) Let $T \in \mathrm{PM}_{\mathrm{p}}(G)$, $T \neq 0$. First assume that $x \in \sigma_*(T)$. Then, by definition of $\sigma_*(T)$, there is a net (f_α) in $\mathrm{A}_{\mathrm{p}}(G)$ such that $f_\alpha \cdot T$ converges to $\lambda_p(x)$ in the weak* topology of $\mathrm{PM}_{\mathrm{p}}(G)$. In particular,

$$\langle f_{\alpha} \cdot T, \delta_x \rangle = f_{\alpha}(x) \langle \Psi_x, T \rangle \rightarrow \langle \lambda_p(x), \delta_x \rangle = 1,$$

hence $\langle \Psi_x, T \rangle \neq 0$.

On the other hand, we assume that $\langle \Psi_x, T \rangle \neq 0$, and we let (V_α) be a basis for the neighborhood system of x, directed by inclusion. Proceeding as in [48, p. 100], we choose $K = \{x\}$ and $F_\alpha = G \smallsetminus V_\alpha$, and we let U_α be a symmetric compact neighborhood of the identity e in G such that $KU_\alpha^2 \cap F_\alpha = \emptyset$. Then we define $u_\alpha = \frac{1}{m(U_\alpha)} \mathbb{1}_{xU_\alpha} * \mathbb{1}_{U_\alpha}$, so that $u_{\alpha} \in \{u \in A_{p}(G) : ||u||_{A_{p}} = 1 = u(x)\}$ and $u_{\alpha}(z) = 0$ for all $z \in F_{\alpha}$. Moreover, since $\bigcap_{\alpha} V_{\alpha} = \{x\}$, it follows that $supp(u_{\alpha}) \downarrow \{x\}$, hence $u_{\alpha}(z) \to 0$ pointwise for all $z \in G, z \neq x$. Now, with an argument similar to the proof of Lemma 4.1.2, we conclude that for any $\varphi \in C_{\delta,p}(G)$, $\langle u_{\alpha}, \varphi \rangle \to \langle \Psi_{x}, \varphi \rangle$, where Ψ_{x} is the unique topologically invariant x-mean on $\mathrm{PM}_{p}(G)$. Since $C_{\delta,p}(G) = \overline{A_{p}(G)} \cdot \mathrm{PM}_{p}(G)$ [43, Proposition 15.(a)], we have for all $u \in A_{p}(G)$,

$$\langle u_{\alpha} \cdot T, u \rangle = \langle u_{\alpha}, u \cdot T \rangle \rightarrow \langle \Psi_x, u \cdot T \rangle = \langle \langle \Psi_x, T \rangle \lambda_p(x), u \rangle,$$

that is, $u_{\alpha} \cdot T$ converges to $\langle \Psi_x, T \rangle \lambda_p(x)$ in the weak* topology of $\mathrm{PM}_p(G)$. Since $\langle \Psi_x, T \rangle \neq 0$, we may set $v_{\alpha} = \frac{1}{\langle \Psi_x, T \rangle} u_{\alpha}$. Then $v_{\alpha} \cdot T \xrightarrow{w^*} \lambda_p(x)$, hence $x \in \sigma_*(T)$.

(b) Let $T \in WAP_p(G)$, $T \neq 0$. If $x \in \sigma(T)$, then $x \in \sigma_*(T)$, and $\langle \Psi_x, T \rangle \neq 0$ by (a). Conversely, if $\langle \Psi_x, T \rangle \neq 0$, then similarly as in (a), there exists a net (u_{α}) in $\{u \in A_p(G) : ||u||_{A_p} = 1 = u(x)\}$ such that $u_{\alpha} \cdot T \xrightarrow{w^*} \langle \Psi_x, T \rangle \lambda_p(x)$. Since T is a weakly almost periodic functional and the net (u_{α}) is bounded, we conclude that the convergence is in the weak topology, hence

$$\lambda_p(x) \in \overline{\{u \cdot T \, : \, u \in \mathcal{A}_p(G)\}}^w = \overline{\{u \cdot T \, : \, u \in \mathcal{A}_p(G)\}}^{||.||},$$

where the last equality holds by Mazur's Theorem. The last assertion is a consequence of Theorem 6.4.1.

(c) The proof is identical to (b).

The next corollary is an immediate consequence of Theorem 7.1 and [56, Lemma 3.1.(a)]. It generalizes [51, Corollary 3.15.(c)].

Corollary 7.2. Let G be a discrete group. Then

$$\sigma(T) = \sigma_*(T) \neq \emptyset \quad \text{for all } T \in WAP_p(G), T \neq 0.$$

In combination with results of A. Ülger [103] and B. Forrest [36], the next corollary is an application of Corollary 7.2 and of [51, Corollary 3.15.(b)]. It

is actually an improvement of [51, Corollary 3.15.(b)] since we replace $C_{\delta,p}(G)$ by WAP_p(G). Below, the equivalences (a) \Leftrightarrow (b) \Leftrightarrow (d) were proved in [103, Theorem 3.6], whereas the equivalence (c) \Leftrightarrow (d) was proved in [36, Lemma 3.3]. For the case p = 2, (c) \Leftrightarrow (d) is due to A. T.-M. Lau [66, Theorem 3.7]. The properties (e) and (f) are new.

Corollary 7.3. Let G be a locally compact group. The following assertions are equivalent:

- (a) For each $u \in A_p(G)$, the (left) multiplication operator τ_u , defined by $\tau_u(v) = uv$ for $v \in A_p(G)$, is compact.
- (b) For each $u \in A_p(G)$, the multiplication operator τ_u is weakly compact.
- (c) $A_p(G)$ is an ideal in $PM_p(G)^*$.

(d) G is discrete.

- (e) For all $T \in AP_p(G), T \neq 0, \sigma(T) = \sigma_*(T)$.
- (f) For all $T \in WAP_p(G), T \neq 0, \sigma(T) = \sigma_*(T)$.

Chapter 8

Open problems

- Is it possible to find an L^p-version of the results of Chapter 3? More precisely, could we find a description of the representations of A_p(G) as bounded operators on a QSL_p-space? Where a QSL_p-space is a Banach space that is isometrically isomorphic to a quotient of a subspace of an L^p-space.
- 2. Given any φ -amenable Banach algebra, is it possible to introduce a notion of ergodic sequence? Could we find a characterization of such sequences similar to that of Theorem 4.1.3?
- 3. In order to solve the complete mixing problem for the measure algebra of a σ -compact locally compact group, could we adapt our approach used to solve the dual version of this problem (see Chapter 5)?
- 4. Do any of the results of Chapter 6 yield some interesting properties of (non-commutative) left amenable *F*-algebras? For instance, given a left amenable *F*-algebra (A, M) and a left Banach *A*-submodule *X* of wap(*A*) containing the identity $1 \in M$, is it possible to establish the uniqueness of a projection *P* from *X* onto C1 such that for each $x \in X$, $Px \in \overline{\{u \cdot x : u \in \mathscr{S}_A\}}^w$, where \mathscr{S}_A denotes the set of all normal states on *M* (see Corollary 6.3.7)? Furthermore, is it possible to find a direct sum decomposition for *X* similar to that of Theorem 6.4.1?

Bibliography

- J. Aaronson, M. Lin, and B. Weiss. Mixing properties of Markov operators and ergodic transformations, and ergodicity of cartesian products. *Israel J. Math.*, 33:198-224, 1979.
- [2] M. Anoussis and D. Gatzouras. On mixing and ergodicity in locally compact motion groups. J. Reine Angew. Math., 625:1–28, 2008.
- [3] J.-B. Baillon. Un théorème de type ergodique pour les contractions non linéaires dans un espace de Hilbert (French). C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris Ser. A, 280:1511–1514, 1975.
- [4] A. Bellow, R. L. Jones, and J. Rosenblatt. Almost everywhere convergence of weighted averages. *Math. Ann.*, 293:399–426, 1992.
- [5] J. J. Benedetto. Spectral synthesis. Academic Press, New York, 1975.
- [6] J. F. Berglund, H. D. Junghenn, and P. Milnes. Analysis on semigroups. Wiley-Interscience, New York, 1989.
- [7] J. Blum and B. Eisenberg. Generalized summing sequences and the mean ergodic theorem. Proc. Amer. Math. Soc., 42(2):423-429, 1974.
- [8] N. Bourbaki. Elements of Mathematics, Integration, Chapters 1-4. Springer-Verlag, Berlin-Heidelberg, 1965.
- [9] N. Bourbaki. Elements of Mathematics, Integration, Chapter 5. Springer-Verlag, Berlin-Heidelberg, 1967.
- [10] G. Choquet and J. Deny. Sur l'équation de convolution $\mu * f = f$ (French). C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris, 250:799–801, 1960.

- [11] C.-H. Chu and A. T.-M. Lau. Harmonic functions on groups and Fourier algebras. Lecture Notes in Math., vol. 1782, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 2002.
- [12] J. B. Conway. A course in Functional Analysis, (2nd edition). Springer-Verlag, New York, 1990.
- [13] M. Cowling. An application of Littlewood-Paley theory in harmonic analysis. Math. Ann., 241:83–96, 1979.
- [14] C. Cuny. Weak mixing of random walks on groups. J. Theoret. Probab., 16(4):923-933, 2003.
- [15] H. G. Dales. Banach algebras and automatic continuity. London Math. Soc. Monographs, Vol. 24. Clarendon Press, Oxford, 2000.
- [16] M. Daws. Dual Banach algebras: representations and injectivity. Studia Math., 178(3):231-275, 2007.
- [17] M. Daws. p-operator spaces and Figà-Talamanca-Herz algebras. J. Operator Theory, 63(1):47–83, 2010.
- [18] M. M. Day. Means for the bounded functions and ergodicity of the bounded representations of semigroups. Trans. Amer. Math. Soc., 69(2):276-291, 1950.
- [19] M. M. Day. Amenable semigroups. Illinois J. Math., 1:509–544, 1957.
- [20] J. Delaporte and A. Derighetti. p-pseudomeasures and closed subgroups. Mh. Math., 119:37–47, 1995.
- [21] A. Derighetti. Some results on the Fourier-Stieltjes algebra of a locally compact group. *Comment. Math. Helv.*, 45:219–228, 1970.
- [22] A. Derighetti. Quelques observations concernant les ensembles de Ditkin d'un groupe localement compact (French). Mh. Math., 101:95–113, 1986.
- [23] A. Derighetti. Convolution operators on groups. Lecture Notes of the Unione Matematica Italiana 11, Springer-Verlag, Berlin-Heidelberg, 2011.

- [24] A. Derighetti, M. Filali, and M. Sangani Monfared. On the ideal structure of some Banach algebras related to convolution operators on L^p(G).
 J. Funct. Anal., 215:341–365, 2004.
- [25] S. Desaulniers. Geometry and fixed point properties for a class of Banach algebras associated to locally compact groups. PhD thesis, University of Alberta, 2008.
- [26] C. F. Dunkl and D. E. Ramirez. Weakly almost periodic functionals on the Fourier algebra. Trans. Amer. Math. Soc., 185:501–514, 1973.
- [27] W. F. Eberlein. Abstract ergodic theorems and weak almost periodic functions. Trans. Amer. Math. Soc., 67(1):217-240, 1949.
- [28] P. Eymard. L'algèbre de Fourier d'un groupe localement compact (French). Bull. Soc. Math. France, 92:181–236, 1964.
- [29] P. Eymard. Algèbres A_p et convoluteurs de L^p (French). Séminaire Bourbaki, 367:55–72, 1969/1970.
- [30] P. Eymard. A survey of Fourier algebras. Contemp. Math., 183:111–128, 1995.
- [31] A. Figà-Talamanca. Translation invariant operators in $L_p(G)$. Duke Math. J., 32:495–501, 1965.
- [32] S. R. Foguel. On iterates of convolutions. Proc. Amer. Math. Soc., 47(2):368-370, 1975.
- [33] G. B. Folland. A Course in Abstract Harmonic Analysis. CRC Press, Boca Raton, 1995.
- [34] B. Forrest. Amenability and bounded approximate identities in ideals of A(G). Illinois J. Math., 34(1):1-25, 1990.
- [35] B. Forrest. Invariant means, right ideals and the structure of semitopological semigroups. Semigroup Forum, 40:325–361, 1990.
- [36] B. Forrest. Arens regularity and discrete groups. Pacific J. Math., 151(2):217-227, 1991.

- [37] B. Forrest. Arens regularity and the $A_p(G)$ algebras. *Proc. Amer. Math.* Soc., 119(2):595-598, 1993.
- [38] B. Forrest. Amenability and the structure of the algebras $A_p(G)$. Trans. Amer. Math. Soc., 343(1):233-243, 1994.
- [39] S. Glasner. On Choquet-Deny measures. Ann. Inst. H. Poincaré, B 12:1–10, 1976.
- [40] C. C. Graham, A. T.-M. Lau, and M. Leinert. Separable translationinvariant subspaces of M(G) and other dual spaces on locally compact groups. *Colloq. Math.*, 54:131–145, 1988.
- [41] E. E. Granirer. Weakly almost periodic and uniformly continuous functionals on the Fourier algebra of any locally compact group. Trans. Amer. Math. Soc., 189:371–382, 1974.
- [42] E. E. Granirer. On some properties of the Banach algebras $A_p(G)$ for locally compact groups. *Proc. Amer. Math. Soc.*, 95(3):375–381, 1985.
- [43] E. E. Granirer. On some spaces of linear functionals on the algebras $A_p(G)$ for locally compact groups. *Colloq. Math.*, 52:119–132, 1987.
- [44] E. E. Granirer. On the set of topologically invariant means on an algebra of convolution operators on $L^{p}(G)$. *Proc. Amer. Math. Soc.*, 124(11):3399–3406, 1996.
- [45] E. E. Granirer. The Figà-Talamanca-Herz-Lebesgue Banach algebras $A_p^r(G) = A_p(G) \cap L^r(G)$. Math. Proc. Camb. Phil. Soc., 140:401–416, 2006.
- [46] E. E. Granirer and A. T.-M. Lau. Invariant means on locally compact groups. Illinois J. Math., 15:249–257, 1971.
- [47] F. P. Greenleaf. Invariant means on topological groups and their applications. van Nostrand, New York, 1969.
- [48] C. S. Herz. Harmonic synthesis on subgroups. Ann. Inst. Fourier, 23(3):91–123, 1973.

- [49] E. Hewitt and K. A. Ross. Abstract Harmonic Analysis, Volume II. Springer-Verlag, Berlin-Heidelberg, 1970.
- [50] E. Hewitt and K. A. Ross. Abstract Harmonic Analysis, Volume I. Springer-Verlag, New York, 1979.
- [51] Z. Hu. Spectrum of commutative Banach algebras and isomorphism of C^{*}-algebras related to locally compact groups. Studia Math., 129(3):207– 223, 1998.
- [52] Z. Hu, M. Sangani Monfared, and T. Traynor. On character amenable Banach algebras. *Studia Math.*, 193:53–78, 2009.
- [53] W. Jaworski. The asymptotic σ-algebra of a recurrent random walk on a locally compact group. Israel J. Math., 94:201–219, 1996.
- [54] W. Jaworski. Ergodic and mixing probability measures on [SIN] groups.
 J. Theoret. Probab., 17(3):741-759, 2004.
- [55] E. Kaniuth. A course in commutative Banach algebras. Graduate Texts in Math., vol. 246, Springer, New York, 2009.
- [56] E. Kaniuth, A. T.-M. Lau, and A. Ülger. Multipliers of commutative Banach algebras, power boundedness and Fourier-Stieltjes algebras. J. London Math. Soc., 81(2):255-275, 2010.
- [57] E. Kaniuth, A. T.-M. Lau, and J. Pym. On character amenability of Banach algebras. J. Math. Anal. Appl., 344:942–955, 2008.
- [58] E. Kaniuth, A. T.-M. Lau, and J. Pym. On φ-amenability of Banach algebras. Math. Proc. Camb. Phil. Soc., 144:85–96, 2008.
- [59] Y. Katznelson. An introduction to Harmonic Analysis. Dover Publ., New York, 1976.
- [60] K. Kido and W. Takahashi. Mean ergodic theorems for semigroups of linear operators. J. Math. Anal. Appl., 103:387–394, 1984.
- [61] R. Larsen. An introduction to the theory of multipliers. Springer-Verlag, Berlin-Heidelberg, 1971.

- [62] R. Larsen. Banach algebras, an introduction. Marcel Dekker, New York, 1973.
- [63] A. T.-M. Lau. Amenability and invariant subspaces. J. Austral. Math. Soc., 18:200-204, 1974.
- [64] A. T.-M. Lau. Semigroup of operators on dual Banach spaces. Proc. Amer. Math. Soc., 54:393–396, 1976.
- [65] A. T.-M. Lau. Uniformly continuous functionals on the Fourier algebra of any locally compact group. Trans. Amer. Math. Soc., 251:39–59, 1979.
- [66] A. T.-M. Lau. The second conjugate algebra of the Fourier algebra of a locally compact group. Trans. Amer. Math. Soc., 267(1):53-63, 1981.
- [67] A. T.-M. Lau. Analysis on a class of Banach algebras with applications to harmonic analysis on locally compact groups and semigroups. *Fund. Math.*, 118(3):161–175, 1983.
- [68] A. T.-M. Lau. Amenability of semigroups. In *The Analytical and Topo*logical Theory of Semigroups, pages 313–334. de Gruyter, 1990.
- [69] A. T.-M. Lau and A. Ülger. Some geometric properties on the Fourier and Fourier-Stieltjes algebras of locally compact groups, Arens regularity and related problems. *Trans. Amer. Math. Soc.*, 337(1):321–359, 1993.
- [70] A. T.-M. Lau and V. Losert. Ergodic sequences in the Fourier-Stieltjes algebra and measure algebra of a locally compact group. *Trans. Amer. Math. Soc.*, 351:417–428, 1999.
- [71] A. T.-M. Lau and R. J. Loy. Weak amenability of Banach algebras on locally compact groups. J. Funct. Anal., 145:175–204, 1997.
- [72] A. T.-M. Lau, N. Shioji, and W. Takahashi. Existence of nonexpansive retractions for amenable semigroups of nonexpansive mappings and nonlinear ergodic theorems in Banach spaces. J. Funct. Anal., 161:62–75, 1999.

- [73] M. Lin and A. Tempelman. Averaging sequences and modulated ergodic theorems for weakly almost periodic group representations. J. Anal. Math., 77:237-268, 1999.
- [74] M. Lin and R. Wittmann. Convergence of representation averages and of convolution powers. Israel J. Math., 88:125–157, 1994.
- [75] V. Losert and H Rindler. Uniform distribution and the mean ergodic theorem. *Invent. Math.*, 50:65–74, 1978.
- [76] F. Lust-Piquard. Means on CV_p(G)-subspaces of CV_p(G) with RNP and Schur property. Ann. Inst. Fourier, 39(4):969–1006, 1989.
- [77] T. Miao. Predual of the multiplier algebra of $A_p(G)$ and amenability. Canad. J. Math., 56(2):344–355, 2004.
- [78] P. Milnes and A. L. T. Paterson. Ergodic sequences and a subspace of B(G). Rocky Mountain J. Math., 18(3):681–694, 1988.
- [79] T. Mitchell. Constant functions and left invariant means on semigroups. Trans. Amer. Math. Soc., 119:244–261, 1965.
- [80] H. S. Mustafayev. The norm spectrum in certain classes of commutative Banach algebras. *Colloq. Math.*, 123(1):95–114, 2011.
- [81] I. Namioka. On certain actions of semigroups on L-spaces. Studia Math., 29:63-77, 1967.
- [82] R. Nasr-Isfahani. Fixed point characterization of left amenable Lau algebras. Int. J. Math. Math. Sci., 61–64:3333–3338, 2004.
- [83] M. Neufang and V. Runde. Harmonic operators: the dual perspective. Math. Z., 255:669-690, 2007.
- [84] A. L. T. Paterson. Amenability. American Mathematical Society, Providence, 1988.
- [85] J.-P. Pier. Amenable locally compact groups. Wiley-Interscience, New York, 1984.

- [86] T. Ramsey and Y. Weit. Ergodic and mixing properties of measures on locally compact Abelian groups. Proc. Amer. Math. Soc., 92(4):519–520, 1984.
- [87] H. Reiter and J. D. Stegeman. Classical Harmonic Analysis and Locally Compact Groups. London Math. Soc. Monographs, Vol. 22. Clarendon Press, Oxford, 2000.
- [88] P. F. Renaud. Invariant means on a class of von Neumann algebras. Trans. Amer. Math. Soc., 170:285–291, 1972.
- [89] G. Rodé. An ergodic theorem for semigroups of nonexpansive mappings in a Hilbert space. J. Math. Anal. Appl., 85:172–178, 1982.
- [90] J. Rosenblatt. Ergodic and mixing random walks on locally compact groups. Math. Ann., 257:31–42, 1981.
- [91] L. A. Rubel and A. L. Shields. Invariant subspaces of L[∞] and H[∞]. J. Reine Angew. Math., 272:32–44, 1965.
- [92] V. Runde. Lectures on amenability. Springer-Verlag, Berlin-Heidelberg, 2002.
- [93] R. Ryan. Introduction to tensor products of Banach spaces. Springer, London, 2002.
- [94] C. Ryll-Nardzewski. Generalized random ergodic theorems and weakly almost periodic functions. Bull. Acad. Polon. Sci., 10:271–275, 1962.
- [95] C. Ryll-Nardzewski. On fixed points of semigroups of endomorphisms of linear spaces. In Proc. Fifth Berkeley Symp. Math. Stat. Probab., volume II, pages 55–61. Univ. California Press, 1965/1966.
- [96] M. Sangani Monfared. Extensions and isomorphisms for the generalized Fourier algebras of a locally compact group. J. Funct. Anal., 198:413– 444, 2003.
- [97] M. Sangani Monfared. On certain products of Banach algebras with applications to harmonic analysis. *Studia Math.*, 178(3):277–294, 2007.

- [98] M. Sangani Monfared. Character amenability of Banach algebras. Math. Proc. Camb. Phil. Soc., 144:697–706, 2008.
- [99] W. Takahashi. A nonlinear ergodic theorems for an amenable semigroup of nonexpansive mappings in a Hilbert space. Proc. Amer. Math. Soc., 81(2):253-256, 1981.
- [100] M. Takesaki. Theory of operator algebras I. Springer-Verlag, New York, 1979.
- [101] A. Tempelman. Ergodic Theorems for Group Actions: Informational and Thermodynamical Aspects. Kluwer Academic Publishers, Dordrecht, 1992.
- [102] A. Ulger. Continuity of weakly almost periodic functionals on $L^1(G)$. Quart. J. Math. Oxford Ser., 37(2):495–497, 1986.
- [103] A. Ulger. Some results about the spectrum of commutative Banach algebras under the weak topology and applications. *Mh. Math.*, 121:353– 379, 1996.
- [104] J. von Neumann. Almost periodic functions in a group. I. Trans. Amer. Math. Soc., 36(3):445–492, 1934.
- [105] G. A. Willis. Probability measures on groups and some related ideals in group algebras. J. Funct. Anal., 92:202–263, 1990.
- [106] J. C. S. Wong. Topologically stationary locally compact groups and amenability. Trans. Amer. Math. Soc., 144:351–363, 1969.
- [107] J. C. S. Wong. Topological invariant means on locally compact groups and fixed points. Proc. Amer. Math. Soc., 27(3):572–578, 1971.
- [108] N. J. Young. Periodicity of functionals and representations of normed algebras on reflexive spaces. Proc. Edinburgh Math. Soc., 20(2):99–120, 1976/1977.